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1 For Staff: 1 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Welcome, everybody.
2 COLIN O BRIEN 2 Good afternoon. It is 1:30 p.m. on July 2, 2025.
OFFI CE of the ATTORNEY GENERAL of WASHINGTON | 3 We are here this afternoon for a hearing to
3 7141 Cl eanwater Dr SW . . . .
) 4 resolve a motion to compel filed by Public Counsel in
A ynpia, WA 98501-6503 o . . .
) ) 5 Docket UE-250224, which is captioned Washington Utilities
4 colin.obrien@tg.wa. gov
360. 586. 6413 6 and Transportation Commission v. PacifiCorp, doing
5 7 business as Pacific Power and Light Company.
6 8 | think, to make the most effective use of our
7 ALSO PRESENT:  UNI DENTI FI ED PARTI Cl PANTS 9 time this morning -- and, actually, before | get there, my
8 10 name is Connor Thompson. I'm an Administrative Law Judge
9 11 with the Commission. Here with me today is judge Bijun
1(1) 12 Hughes, who is also an Administrative Law Judge with the
12 13 Commission.
13 14 To make the most effective use of our time
14 15 today, | think the way we ought to go ahead and handle the
15 16 issues is to go ahead and allow the parties to have three
16 17 to five minutes to give an overview of their position, if
17 18 they have any, and provide any updates or responses to the
18 19 positions which have been filed in responses since Public
;?) 20 Counsel's initial motion.
1 21 And | think, Public Counsel, you filed the
22 22 motion; so, if you want to go ahead and begin or if you
23 23 have an alternative proposal for how to handle today's
24 24 hearing, I'm open to hearing that as well.
25 25 ROBERT SYKES: No. Il go ahead. Thank you,
253.627.6401 246 schedule@balitigation.com
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1 Your Honor. 1 PacifiCorp to divulge analysis that was prepared

2 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Thank you. 2 specifically and exclusively for confidential settlement

3 ROBERT SYKES: So you've had a chance to read | 3 discussions that were conducted as part of PacifiCorp's

4 the pleadings, I'm certain. The issue here is actually 4 ongoing multistate process for MSP.

5 very simple. 5 The MSP is a collaborative effort amongst

6 We have asked for an analysis of alternatives to 6 stakeholders in all six PacifiCorp states designed to

7 the allocations -- to some of the allocations proposed by | 7 resolve cost allocation issues.

8 PacifiCorp in the 2016 protocol, specifically the 8 Granting Public Counsel's motion is directly

9 allocation of Chehalis, the removal of Hermiston, and the | 9 counter to the Commission's own rules, would upend ongoing
10 allocation of Rolling Hills. 10 MSP negotiations, and jeopardize future the multistate

11 PacifiCorp, in its discovery responses, has 11 collaboration by creating a strong disincentive for frank

12 admitted it has performed an analysis of those allocate -- | 12 and open settlement negotiations.

13 alternative analysis of those allocations, and it has 13 By way of background, when the Commission

14 refused to give it to us. 14 approved PacifiCorp's current cost-allocation methodology,

15 It has hid behind the nondisclosure agreement as | 15 the Washington interjurisdictional allocation methodology

16 part of the multistate process and as part of the 16 or the WIJAM, the Commission recognized that the WIJAM did
17 Framework Issues Working Group contending it as a 17 not definitively resolve every issue in dispute among

18 settlement negotiation. 18 PacifiCorp and stakeholders across its six-state service

19 If we -- setting aside our disagreement about 19 area.

20 whether this is a settlement negotiation, we are not 20 The Commission acknowledged that the additional

21 asking for any party positions. We're not asking for any |21 issues requiring negotiation and resolution would be

22 negotiation material. We are asking for data -- the 22 addressed through what the allocation protocol referred to

23 analysis. And PacifiCorp should provide it. Or, if they 23 as the Framework Issues Group.

24 can't provide -- provide it, then | don't know why they're | 24 Since 2020, PacifiCorp and stakeholders from all

25 before the Commission in the first place if they're 25 six states, including Washington, have diligently and in

Page 7 Page 9

1 willing to actually give us the analysis that they did. 1 good faith followed the Commission's direction and engaged
2 So we have asked for an analysis. PacifiCorp 2 in settlement negotiations through that work group.

3 hasit. If they don't have it, they should tell us. And, 3 During the course of those settlement

4 if they have it, they should give it to Public Counsel and 4 negotiations, PacifiCorp was asked by parties to prepare

5 the other parties so they can actually review alternatives 5 certain analyses. PacifiCorp agreed to do so subject to a

6 that PacifiCorp considered. 6 nondisclosure agreement and the clear and documented

7 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. Thank you. 7 understanding that the requested analysis was being

8 And | forgot to do this at the outset. Because 8 prepared exclusively for the confidential settlement

9 we've already started, I'll just ask each party to enter 9 discussions and could not be disclosure outside of those

10 an appearance when it's your turn to discuss the issues. 10 negotiations. It is this analysis that Public Counsel now

11 And so my apologies. Mr. Sykes, if you could 11 seeks.

12 just, for the record, let everybody know who you are and 12 Had PacifiCorp known that the analysis would

13 who you represent. 13 later be subject to discovery by parties like Public

14 ROBERT SYKES: Yes. I'm Rob Sykes, and I'm with 14 Counsel that chose not to participate in the settlement

15 Public Counsel. 15 discussions, PacifiCorp would have declined to perform the
16 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Thank you very much. | 16 requested analysis.

17 And for PacifiCorp. 17 In other words, and for the sake of clarity, the

18 ADAM LOWNEY: Yes. Judge Thompson, can you hear | 18 requested analysis is not information that PacifiCorp had
19 me? 19 on hand before the Framework Issues Group or analysis
20 THE COURT: I can. 20 PacifiCorp would have produced in the normal course of
21 ADAM LOWNEY: All right. Thank you. And good 21 business. The analysis was created and the information
22 afternoon. 22 was provided only because it was requested by parties to
23 For the record, my name is Adam Lowney, and I'm 23 the confidential settlement discussions.

24 appearing today on behalf of PacifiCorp. 24 The Commission's own rules are unequivocal.

25 Public Counsel asks the Commission to order 25 Settlement materials are confidential and not subject to
253.627.6401 BALITIGATION S schedule@balitigation.com
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1 disclosure. And the policy underlying the Commission's 1 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. Thank you.

2 rulesis clear. The Commission encourages settlement and | 2 | will also ask Staff if you would like to make

3 collaboration. And, if materials provided during 3 an appearance and then please let us know if you have any

4 settlement discussion are later subject to discovery from 4 comments or anything to weigh in here.

5 nonparticipants, it will stifle the free flow of 5 COLIN O'BRIEN: Yeah. Good afternoon, Your

6 information that is critical to successful settlement 6 Honor. Colin O'Brien representing Staff.

7 negotiations. 7 Just briefly, Staff would support Public

8 The integrity of the multistate process requires 8 Counsel's mation. The -- and for much the same reasons

9 confidence among participants that what they provide as 9 that have already been stated, not to be too duplicative.

10 they work with towards settlement will be protected from 10 | would just have a brief add that the relevance

11 disclosure. 11 standard that Pac cites for their response to Public

12 Itis also critical to understand that 12 Counsel's motion is not actually accurate or at least

13 PacifiCorp's concerns here are not simply focused on past | 13 misstates part of the standard in that Pac is claiming

14 MSP settlement discussions. The company continues to 14 that only relevant information can be requested. But, in

15 engage stakeholders from all states, including Washington, | 15 reality, the rest of the sentence they're relying on

16 in ongoing MSP settlement discussions involving critical 16 states that information which could lead to the production

17 issues like wildfires. 17 of relevant information can also be requested.

18 Like the materials Public Counsel seeks here, 18 And just that this -- even if the standard was

19 those wildfire settlement discussions have utilized the 19 flat relevance, as they -- as PacifiCorp states, the --

20 same tools to protect the confidentiality of materials 20 the -- the data would be relevant given the fact that

21 provided by PacifiCorp. 21 PacifiCorp both was ordered to present alternatives in

22 If this Commission determines that materials 22 this case, making alternative analyses relevant as stated

23 provided confidentially in the context of MSP settlement 23 by the Commission, and also the general provisions of WAC

24 negotiations are now discoverable, then PacifiCorp will be | 24 480-07-400 that state a party must be willing to provide

25 required to reconsider its ongoing participation in the 25 alternatives or provide reruns, recalculations of data
Page 11 Page 13

1 MSP settlement discussions and, frankly, all settlement 1 pursuant to data requests.

2 discussions. The chilling effect of a ruling in favor of 2 And that is all I have, and I'm available for

3 Public Counsel will be immediate and far reaching. 3 questions as well.

4 For these reasons, and for those additional 4 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. Thank you very

5 reasons outlined in our written response, PacifiCorp 5 much.

6 requests that the Commission deny Public Counsel's motion. 6 | also see Mr. Zakai is on from the Energy

7 Thank you. And I'm available to answer 7 Project.

8 questions you might have. 8 YOCHI ZAKAI: Yes. Good afternoon. For the

9 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. Thank you. I -- 9 record, my name is Yochi Zakai, with Shute, Mahaly &

10 |do have some questions. 10 Weinberger representing the Energy Project today.

11 But, first, I'm going to go ahead and ask AWEC, 11 The Energy Project would like to support Public

12 if you would like to turn on your camera. Thank you. And 12 Counsel's motion. We think it is reasonable to request

13 | know that you filed a response as well. And so, if you 13 that, if there is, you know, an analysis that has a

14 wanted to go ahead, for the record, and make an appearance |14 different allocation, that that be provided.

15 and then go ahead and state your position. 15 We understand the need to not reveal party

16 MICHELLE MADSEN: Thank you, Judge Thompson and | 16 positions in settlement negotiation, and we don't see that

17 Judge Hughes. My name is Michelle Madison with Davison 17 being requested here. The fact that PacifiCorp has an

18 Van Cleve on behalf of AWEC. Ms. Sommer Moser is also on | 18 analysis and provides it does not mean that PacifiCorp is

19 the line. 19 stating that they support it. It's just the production of

20 As noted, we filed comments this previous Monday 20 data. And I think that's an important consideration for

21 in response to the Public Counsel's motion to compel. We 21 the Commission and parties to make when reviewing the

22 would just like to affirm those comments and support 22 data.

23 Public Counsel's request -- respectful request to grant 23 So thank you.

24 its motion to compel. 24 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Thank you very much.

25 We're open for questions if anyone has them. 25 At this point, | will ask if we have any other

253.627.6401 BALITIGATION S schedule@balitigation.com
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1 parties on the line who would like to weigh in. | don't 1 executed the NDA in exchange for PacifiCorp performing the

2 believe we have any others. 2 analysis.

3 Okay. Hearing none, | do have a couple of 3 And so, implicit, if not explicit, is that

4 questions. 4 PacifiCorp was only performing and providing the analysis

5 First, | guess, Mr. Lowney, for the relevance 5 subject to the understanding it was not going to be

6 argument, do you have any response to the point made by 6 disclosed to any party that was not participating in the

7 Staff? 7 settlement discussions.

8 ADAM LOWNEY: Yes. Thank you. 8 THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Sykes, do you have any

9 To the extent that the motion was construed to 9 response to PacifiCorp's argument that this shouldn't be

10 misstate that standard, that is an inadvertent error. 10 nondiscoverable because these documents or this data was

11 We stand by the position that the requested 11 produced as part of settlement discussions?

12 analysis is not relevant because the 2026 protocol that 12 ROBERT SYKES: Yeah. And | want to specifically

13 was proposed in this case was not built on or not crafted 13 address the point of the NDA.

14 in consideration of that -- the analysis that was 14 Mr. Lowney is correct. Parties asked for this

15 performed previously. 15 analysis in exchange and -- and PacifiCorp gave them an

16 However, our primary objection rests on the fact 16 NDA to sign so it wouldn't be disclosed. That's fine. If

17 that these -- this analysis was provided pursuant to 17 | asked AWEC for this analysis, | shouldn't getit. I'm

18 settlement discussions. And so, even if you were to 18 asking PacifiCorp for its own work product.

19 determine it was relevant, it's still not discoverable 19 That was produced -- or that is not covered by

20 under the Commission's alternative dispute resolution 20 the NDA. The NDA doesn't apply to PacifiCorp. PacifiCorp

21 rules. 21 should rest assured that the Commission has its own

22 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. And justto be | 22 confidentiality rules. It's not going to get outside of

23 clear, the information that we're talking about deals with 23 the parties that have signed a confidentiality agreement

24 alternative allocations; correct? 24 in this case.

25 ADAM LOWNEY: Yes. At a high level, during the 25 And, you know, we're not asking for whether
Page 15 Page 17

1 course of the Framework Issues Group, which is comprised 1 PacifiCorp thinks that alternative analysis was good or

2 of parties from all six of PacifiCorp states, various 2 bad. We're just asking for the data itself. And

3 parties at various times would ask the company to perform 3 PacifiCorp has admitted in its response and today in this

4 essentially some version of scenario analysis that would 4 hearing that it has the data. And it is relevant because

5 explore the impacts of different allocation methodologies. 5 itis an alternative analysis to what has been given to

6 Understanding that that analysis was being 6 us.

7 performed confidentially for purposes of those settlement 7 Can | briefly talk about the relevance issue?

8 discussions, PacifiCorp agreed to provide the analysis and 8 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Sure. Go ahead.

9 to perform the analysis the parties had requested. And 9 ROBERT SYKES: So this issue that it's not

10 thatis the analysis that is now being requested by Public 10 relevant because the allocate -- the 2026 protocol is not

11 Counsel. 11 built on the analysis that was done as part of MSP, that

12 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. And the analyses | 12 misconstrues the discovery request.

13 of alternatives that were prepared, were any of those 13 Our discovery request is not, "Give us the

14 prepared by any party other than PacifiCorp? 14 analysis that this 2026 protocol was built on." They have

15 ADAM LOWNEY: Not to my knowledge. And that 15 to give that to us anyway. ltis, "Give us the analysis

16 would not be information that we would be providing in 16 of the alternatives so that we can judge it." That is the

17 response to the discovery request. 17 relevance of the discovery request.

18 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. And | don't 18 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: On that point, quickly

19 construe your argument to be that the NDA precludes 19 before you get to any response on the issue of this being

20 disclosure simply because PacifiCorp produced the data and 20 produced as part of settlement discussions, I've reviewed

21 would be the party harmed. But just so that I'm -- I'm 21 the motion and the responses as well as the attachments,

22 clear, PacifiCorp didn't execute an NDA as part of this 22 but | want to make sure I've read the data request too

23 process. Other parties executed the NDAs as part of this 23 correctly.

24 process; is that correct? 24 You were asking for any and all alternatives,

25 ADAM LOWNEY: That is correct. Other parties 25 not just those that are specific to the multistate

253.627.6401 BALITIGATION S schedule@balitigation.com
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1 process; is that correct? 1 PacifiCorp has taken in this case which is, even if there

2 ROBERT SYKES: That is correct. 2 had not been a nondisclosure agreement because the process

3 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: And the response was, | 3 that -- in which these analyses were produced was

4 there are alternative analyses but those were part of the 4 settlement negotiations, it's protected from disclosure

5 multistate process? 5 under this rule.

6 ROBERT SYKES: Correct. 6 The NDA simply provided an additional and

7 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. Okay. And, if 7 explicit layer of protection over and above that provided

8 you have any response to PacifiCorp's argument regarding 8 by -- by the Commission's rules.

9 these documents being produced as part of the settlement 9 And | think it's important too to note that,

10 process, I'd -- I'd appreciate hearing those. 10 when you look at this rule, it doesn't say anything about

11 ROBERT SYKES: Sure. Public Counsel disagrees 11 a party's internal position is -- is subject to

12 that the multistate process is a settlement negotiation. 12 disclosure. It's only that you are prevented from

13 Itis a proof of stakeholders working out issues that -- 13 disclosing other parties' positions, which is essentially

14 that PacifiCorp's multistate system will generate as part 14 what Public Counsel is arguing with request to the NDA.

15 of being a six-state -- six-state utility. Thatis a -- 15 I think this language in the rule is unequivocal

16 thatis a business negotiation. It is not a settlement 16 that all information provided as part of a settlement

17 negotiation, certainly not a settlement negotiation that 17 negotiation is protected from disclosure to parties that

18 would be subject to the WAC confidentiality provisions 18 didn't participate in that settlement negotiation, which,

19 which apply to Commission adjudication or ADR in the 19 in this case, is Public Counsel.

20 context of Commission adjudication. 20 I would also add in response to Public Counsel's

21 And then Mr. Lowney mentioned the concerns about 21 comment about whether or not the MSP discussions are

22 the integrity of the ongoing MSP. My understanding -- and 22 ongoing. | used MSP in a very generic way.

23 he can correct me if I'm wrong -- is that PacifiCorp ended 23 There are discussions ongoing around wildfire

24 the multistate process sometime last year so there is no 24 issues, which is the specific topic that | brought up in

25 ongoing MSP to be concerned about. 25 my comments only to emphasize the fact that, while cost
Page 19 Page 21

1 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. Thank you. | 1 allocation in a general sense has not continued,

2 Mr. Lowney, in your response to Public Counsel's 2 allocation of costs and implementation of wildfire

3 motion specifically looking at -- let me make sure | have 3 mitigation efforts, as an example, are ongoing amongst all

4 the paragraph number correct -- paragraph 7 where you 4 six states.

5 state, "The Commission supports parties in formal efforts 5 So that was the point of my comment only to

6 to resolve disputes without the need for contested 6 suggest that there are still discussions going on under

7 hearing, and its rules expressly state that information 7 the general penumbra of the MSP, even though the specific

8 exchanged exclusively within the context of settlement 8 negotiations that were contemplated by the 2020 protocol

9 negotiations will be treated as confidential and be -- and 9 have not -- or have ended.

10 will be privileged against disclosure to the extent 10 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay.

11 permitted by law," you cite to WAC 480-07-706(b). And I 11 Judge Hughes, do you have any questions?

12 just want to hear your thoughts as to -- | have WAC 12 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: | do.

13 480-07-706(b) pulled up before me. And looking at (a) and | 13 Mr. Lowney, can | point you to Subsection C of

14 (b), I'm just reconciling those. 14 sub -- of Section 6 that we've been just talking about?

15 Is it your position that that provision of the 15 It starts with, "Participants in a Commission-sanctioned

16 rule applies to disclosure through discovery or disclosure | 16 ADR process must periodically advise any nonparticipating

17 to the public as nonconfidential information? 17 parties."

18 ADAM LOWNEY: | read the language of the rule as | 18 | guess my question is what is the

19 its written, which is nondisclosure, which would be not 19 Commission-sanctioned ADR process at issue here?

20 subject to discovery, even discovery that would be 20 ADAM LOWNEY: Well, as we outline in our -- in

21 covered, for example, by a protective order. 21 our written filing, | think, if you read the -- that ADR

22 I think the language is -- is clear on its face. 22 rule broadly, it says it governs any dispute -- any

23 It doesn't say it's subject to production with appropriate 23 mechanism to resolve disagreements in whole or in part,

24 protections. It says it is not subject to disclosure. 24 and it includes voluntary negotiation which is what we

25 And that, | think, is -- is literally the position that 25 would describe as happening under the -- the MSP.

253.627.6401 BALITIGATION S schedule@balitigation.com
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1 And -- 1 AJAY KUMAR: Yes. The -- the company would

2 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: -- doesn't answer my 2 provide regular meetings, and we would provide updates to

3 question. What is the -- did the Commission sanction an 3 Commissioners. And there is a Commissioner forum process

4 ADR process here? 4 during which, at times, we would also provide updates to

5 ADAM LOWNEY: Well -- 5 Commissioners from all six of our states, along with

6 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: -- this very, very broadly 6 meeting individually with Commissioners. And they would

7 toinclude any settlement negotiation in any -- anywhere? 7 ask about what's going on in MSP, and we'd give them sort

8 ADAM LOWNEY: Well, | think -- 8 of a -- generalized updates.

9 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: -- that seems -- 9 And then we have also to -- | think also you --

10 ADAM LOWNEY: Well, | think that, as we outlined 10 the rule touches on, you know, whether or not Public

11 in our written filing, when -- and, if you look at the 11 Counsel is invited to participate. And we did try

12 Commission's order approving the 2020 protocol and the 12 multiple times over the years to work with Public Counsel

13 WIJAM, it explained within that order the -- the same 13 to -- to allow them to -- to participate as well.

14 framework that was outlined in the 2020 protocol itself, 14 And so | think | can speak to those factual

15 which is that there are certain issues that were subject 15 issues.

16 to ongoing and continued negotiation and resolution. 16 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: Very good.

17 Those are issues then that would eventually, as 17 Mr. Lowney, I'd like to turn to the Subsection B

18 the Commission's own order explains, would be broughtto |18 where it says "to the extent permitted by law."

19 the Commission for approval or rejection at some future 19 Looking at, | believe, paragraph 7 of your

20 time. 20 brief, there's a very abrupt therefore the information

21 And so, to the extent that these negotiations 21 request by public counsel is (inaudible) disclosure.

22 were contemplated and specifically a part of the 2020 22 I don't if you've ever practiced Public Records

23 protocol that was approved by the Commission in 2020, that | 23 Act in Washington state, but there is a distinction

24 would fall clearly under the "any mechanism to resolve a 24 between regulations and statutes in terms of, like, what

25 dispute over which the Commission has jurisdiction,” 25 can we use to withhold disclosure.
Page 23 Page 25

1 because we were working with parties in Washington amongst | 1 So | don't see an RCW cite. So | guess I'm

2 the other states at a resolution that then would be 2 curious. To the extent permitted by law, is there a

3 presented eventually to the -- to the Washington 3 specific law that you believe is applicable, like, for

4 Commission. 4 example, the commercial information statute?

5 Now, we never got a resolution, unfortunately, 5 ADAM LOWNEY: Well, | would say, generally, the

6 which is why we're where we're at today. But that doesn't 6 information that was provided as part of the MSP

7 mean that the negotiation process that was contemplated by 7 discussions is -- would be proprietarily and commercially

8 the 2020 protocol and by the Commission itself, when it 8 sensitive information. It would be the same type of

9 approved that protocol, is not an ADR process within the 9 information that we would provide subject to a protective

10 very broad language encompassed by the Commission's rules. | 10 order in a Commission regulation -- or excuse me -- a

11 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: Right. If -- if this were 11 Commission proceeding.

12 a Commission-sanctioned ADR process, did PacifiCorp at any | 12 I would say, in our brief, we didn't address the

13 point update the Commission as Part C requires? 13 public records laws because nobody brought up the public

14 ADAM LOWNEY: | can't speak to -- | don't know 14 records laws as a basis for requiring disclosure of this

15 if the -- if the company was providing regular updates to 15 information. But, if subsequent briefly would be helpful

16 the Commission or not -- 16 onthatissue, we're happy to provide it.

17 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: Because if it was under 17 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: No. | bring it up just

18 the -- it would seem -- it would have to. 18 because, if | were to file a PRA right now of the UTC and

19 Who is that? 19 ask for this information, they would have to go through

20 AJAY KUMAR: Thank you, Judge Hughes. And | 20 that RCW analysis to determine if they could withhold it.

21 apologize for jumping in. My same Ajay Kumar. I'm chief 21 And | just -- that seems absent here. You haven't cited

22 regulatory counsel for PacifiCorp. And Mr. Lowney does 22 to a law of why this is commercial information.

23 not have direct knowledge of this topic, but | could 23 It's an agreement amongst private parties and in

24 answer your question, if that would be appropriate. 24 avery broad look at the WAC. So you believe this is both

25 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: Please do. 25 nondiscoverable and nonadmissible. And could you explain

253.627.6401 BALITIGATION S schedule@balitigation.com
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1 the -- the difference in your thinking there between those 1 anin camera review, we're certainly willing to facilitate
2 two concepts? 2 that. Butthe basis of our objection was that this is
3 ADAM LOWNEY: Well, I think -- | think you could 3 just not discoverable. It's -- the -- the regulation says
4 actually just look at Subsection 6 of the ADR rule. | 4 that it shall not be disclosed.
5 mean, if you look Subsection A, it deals with 5 And so there was no reason to take that
6 admissibility. And -- and that pretty clearly says 6 additional step of providing protections in the event it
7 statements made by parties are not admissible as evidence | 7 is disclosed, which is what I'm understanding your
8 in formal proceedings. But Subsection B, which is the one | 8 question to be, unless I'm misunderstanding.
9 that we are relying on, is broader, and it says 9 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: | guess, if we don't know
10 information is not subject to disclosure. 10 how many records there are -- if you don't identify
11 And disclosure, in our minds, would be -- this 11 that-- I'm -- I'm struggling to see how -- how we're --
12 is a perfect example of a disclosure that's -- that's 12 how you think this rule would play it. It's kind of an
13 prohibited by that rule. A party that was not a part of 13 absurd result because there -- you would just not say --
14 the settlement discussions ask specific or to provide 14 you're not saying how many records exist. You're not
15 information that was provided within those settlement 15 really defining the scope of what you consider. There's
16 discussions. If we were to provide that information to 16 really no way for me -- a neutral third party to judge
17 Public Counsel, that would be a very clear form of 17 that. Soljust-- | guess | want to ask how many records
18 disclosure which is prohibited by Subsection B. 18 responsive to this request exist.
19 Now, admissibility is a second issue. If we are 19 ADAM LOWNEY: Well, | would perhaps ask
20 ordered, for example, to provide this information to 20 Mr. Kumar to weigh in on that one. But, before we do
21 Public Counsel, we may have a future conflict to the 21 that, | would need to understand what you mean by a
22 extent they try to admit that evidence into record if that 22 record. As a -- as a document or --
23 evidence falls under Subsection 6(a). 23 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: Well, that's fair. | --
24 We've not crossed that bridge at this point 24 having been trained under Foley and PRA, records generally
25 because we're not at the place where anybody is moving to | 25 refer to any form of writing. And, at least in the
Page 27 Page 29
1 admit this -- this information into the record. But that 1 concept of delivery of process, which deals with the sort
2 could be an issue that we face down the road in the event 2 of give and take that we're talking about here, in fears
3 someone tries to do that. And -- 3 of chilling discussion, there is within that doctrine a
4 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: Okay. Let me ask you, 4 distinction between factual information within a record
5 though. 5 and delivered information with the record.
6 There's an assertion of confidentiality in our 6 So I'm -- | suppose, touching that doctrine and
7 regulations in protective orders set out a process for 7 how I'm thinking about this -- because, if there are
8 asserting that. | don't have an in camera copy of the 8 company position, why would reasonably segregating them
9 records. | don't know how many records exist. How are we | 9 not be an appropriate remedy for your problem?
10 to make a determination about the relevance or anything 10 Can you simply redact the confidential
11 without being able to see them? 11 information and provide the rest? Why is that not -- why
12 Wouldn't the proper way of handling this have 12 wasn't that an option that was pursued here?
13 been to provide the information and then move -- let's -- 13 ADAM LOWNEY: Well, I think that the -- the
14 for a special order for protection? Can you talk to me 14 problem is that there is no -- there is no redaction that
15 about that? 15 can occur because everything -- you know, if a party asked
16 Why -- why wasn't a motion to protect brought or 16 you in settlement discussions to prepare a certain
17 a confidentially asserted as the regulations require? 17 analysis and provide that to the parties, we prepare that
18 ADAM LOWNEY: Well, because our position is that | 18 analysis. We typically convey that information through a
19 this information should not be disclosed. 19 PowerPoint slide deck with supporting work papers.
20 And | will say, if we are required to disclose 20 Everything that's performed and provided to the
21 it, we will disclosed it subject to a -- | assume we will 21 parties was done so only because we were engaged in
22 disclose it subject to the confidentiality protections in 22 settlement discussions with those parties. And so there
23 the protective order that's -- that's already been issued 23 is no redaction that can take place that would redact only
24 in this docket. 24 some of the information because all of the information was
25 To the extent that a Commission wishes to have 25 provided in accordance with the settlement discussions.
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1 Now, to your point, | understand there is a 1 And those -- the -- any additional information
2 distinction between, you know, commercially sensitive or 2 would be work papers that support the -- the analysis that
3 proprietary information or maybe information that conveys 3 was provided in those slide decks.
4 aparticular party's position in a negotiation from 4 That's the scope of the information that we're
5 simply, you know, factual information about what the 5 discussing here.
6 weather with was like on a particular day. 6 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: Thank you. That's very
7 We're not taking about factual information like 7 helpful. I'm going to turn back to ALJ Thompson.
8 what the weather was like on a particular day. None of 8 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Thank you.
9 this information was -- was generated in any form in the 9 I think | just have one additional question that
10 normal course of PacifiCorp's business. It was generated | 10 that back and forth spurred. And then I'll go ahead and
11 specifically because a party asked for it as part of a 11 turnto -- to the remainder of the parties to ask if
12 confidential settlement discussion. 12 anybody else has any additional comments that may have
13 And so redaction of certain documents just 13 come up during this conversation.
14 doesn't -- we would redact everything because our position | 14 And I'm not sure whether this should be directed
15 is none of this information is -- is discoverable because 15 atyou, Mr. Lowney, or you, Mr. Kumar. But question is
16 it was all provided through settlement negotiations. 16 are the only alternative analyses that PacifiCorp has for
17 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: Well, | won't take thisup |17 the allocation methodology proposed in this docket those
18 too much. | do invite you to look up the delivery process 18 contained in the multistate process? There weren't any
19 privilege and specifically the consultant corollary and 19 other done?
20 the considerations, which sound very similar to what 20 AJAY KUMAR: | can probably speak to that most
21 you're talking about, has been resolved by other courts 21 easily. And, yes, that's true.
22 when examining sensitive information created in 22 The only -- the only alternative analyses that
23 negotiation and process. It's slightly different because 23 we ever did was in discussions with parties in the MSP
24 it has to do with the executive's power. 24 process regarding, you know, possible limited realignment
25 But I'm just -- it's difficult to buy an entire 25 orreassignment issues.
Page 31 Page 33
1 document is confidential, including the headers and 1 When it came time to develop the 2026 protocol,
2 whatever crafts are in there. But -- 2 there wasn't any analysis because, to be honest, the
3 AJAY KUMAR: Judge Hughes, maybe | can speak to | 3 changing nature of Washington laws and the Climate
4 the factual -- the actual factual documents and provide, 4 Commitment Act made it painfully obvious kind of to the
5 you know, overview of the exact information that you're 5 company what the allocation methodology should be. And so
6 looking at. 6 it was just a matter of putting together all the things
7 So the -- and the way the MSP process worked was 7 that we required for the filing and that we've provided
8 we -- essentially, we'd have meetings around two month -- 8 already to the parties in discovery.
9 two months. We would, you know, talk to the parties. 9 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay.
10 There'd be back-and-forth discussions. We'd all get 10 I'll go ahead and -- and turn to Public Counsel
11 together either virtually or, you know, in a certain 11 first and just ask if you have any additional comments or
12 location. And we'd have parties from all six of our 12 responses that you'd like us to take under consideration.
13 states there. And there -- essentially, the company 13 ROBERT SYKES: | have no other comments except
14 would -- would have a slide deck that facilitates those 14 to say that it sounds like they did the math that we're
15 discussions. 15 asking about. They have work papers.
16 Each slide deck, since the beginning of the 16 There's a substantial body of law that | did not
17 Framework Issues Work Group has been labeled as 17 getinto in this motion because it didn't seem relevant at
18 confidential settlement discussions. You can see that -- 18 the time that simply stamping something as confidential
19 that disclaimer on every single slide deck we have had in 19 settlement negotiations doesn't make it so.
20 the entirety of the Framework Issues Work Group. 20 But, at a minimum, they've admitted again they
21 | believe there are maybe roughly halfa -- a 21 did -- they did an analysis. They had work papers. Other
22 dozen or maybe a dozen to 16 presentations that would 22 parties should be entitled to see that as an alternative
23 cover information that essentially parties requested or 23 to what they are proposing here today.
24 that we provided in order to facilitate those settlement 24 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Thank you.
25 discussions around our cost allocation protocol. 25 And, Ms. Madsen, do you have anything else to
253.627.6401 BALITIGATION S schedule@balitigation.com
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1 add? 1 | don't believe that we really need that much of

2 MICHELLE MADSEN: Thank you, Judge Thompson. 2 additional briefing to make a decision on that point. I'm

3 I would just add that AWEC continues to believe 3 thinking seven pages at -- you know, would probably be

4 that the data in question are facts that are separate from 4 more than sufficient.

5 settlement positions and that they would not, in that 5 If anybody has alternative thoughts, I'm open to

6 light, violate the DNA. It is facts that belong to 6 hearing those. And I'll ask here in just a moment for

7 PacifiCorp that were made at the -- that were then further 7 that.

8 analyzed at the request of parties. But the facts 8 I do know that we have the 4th of July this

9 themselves should not be subject to the NDA. 9 week, and so | don't want to impose a deadline that is

10 Thank you. 10 overly burdensome. But | also do not want to prejudice

11 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Thank you. Mr. O'Brien. | 11 any party in their ability to process this case because we

12 COLIN O'BRIEN: | would just echo and Staff 12 are moving on a relatively quick procedural schedule in

13 would just echo the other parties' comments that allowing 13 getting this information, if -- if we so determine that it

14 PacifiCorp to withhold this information simply because 14 needs to be disclosed.

15 they happen to have been used for a work group when the 15 And so I'm looking at my calendar. And | think,

16 underlying facts are simply facts that the company has and 16 taking into account that the 4th is Friday, perhaps

17 other parties do not just would contribute to further 17 requiring that additional briefing be due by close of

18 widening of the already large information gap that 18 business on Thursday, July 10th, seems like it may provide

19 companies and noncompany parties face. And we would 19 enough time.

20 support this motion. 20 It's not required of the parties, but certainly

21 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Thank you very much. 21 1 would -- | would think that Public Counsel and the

22 And Mr. Zakai. 22 company would want to submit briefing on the issue. And

23 YOCHI ZAKAI: Yes. Thank you. 23 so that is the direction I'm leaning right now. And we

24 I would just add that there are different 24 would aim to get an order out expeditiously after that

25 allocations for different plans that are going to be 25 pointin time.
Page 35 Page 37

1 considered in this proceeding and that had been considered 1 And so I'll just first turn to Public Counsel

2 invarious different, you know, venues in the past. And, 2 and ask if that proposal seems reasonable and if you have

3 yeah, they're all, you know, relevant to how we move 3 any request to amend that proposal.

4 forward here and have all contributed to the overall base 4 ROBERT SYKES: That proposal sounds reasonable

5 of knowledge that was used by PacifiCorp and other parties 5 to me. My one concern -- well, | have two concerns.

6 in developing the positions here. 6 My first concern is that I'm going to be on

7 So thank you. 7 vacation next week so | won't be able to submit anything

8 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Thank you very much. | 8 by the 10th. So that -- Tuesday the 15th, if that's

9 So | think what | would like to do is, first, | 9 possible. But my one concern there is that we're getting

10 believe, as to the issue of relevance, that these 10 awfully close to the August 6th response testimony

11 documents are relevant; 11 deadline. So | just want to raise those two constraints

12 Second, to the issue of the nondisclosure 12 with you and defer to you, Judge -- Judge Thompson.

13 agreement, | don't believe that that precludes disclosure 13 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. Thank you.

14 in this instance, nor is it particularly applicable. 14 Mr. Lowney.

15 However -- and this is a question to the 15 ROBERT SYKES: Briefly, Judge Thompson. If the

16 parties. What I'm thinking is asking for a little bit of 16 10th is the date that is best, for the Commission, I'm

17 additional briefing on the applicability of WAC 17 sure that | can have another attorney in my office help

18 480-07-706(b), particularly to the issues of whether or 18 out.

19 not the multistate process is a settlement process and, if 19 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay.

20 so, whether 480-07-706(b) would preclude disclosure in 20 ADAM LOWNEY: Judge Thompson, That proposal will

21 this instance. 21 work for PacifiCorp.

22 If anybody wants to go there, I'd welcome 22 I would say I'm happy to also address the

23 additional briefing as to why the protective order in this 23 question that you just posed now to the extent it wasn't

24 case is not sufficient to adequately protect that 24 already addressed; and, that is, from our perspective, the

25 information and preserve the integrity of the process. 25 reason the Commission's protective order is insufficient
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1 here is because that protective order protects the parties 1 scheduling conference on the schedule right now.

2 from disclosing publicly information that's provided to 2 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. I'm just thinking

3 them subject to that protective order. 3 through here.

4 What we're talking about here is disclosure of 4 ROBERT SYKES: Your Honor, it looks like there's

5 confidential settlement negotiation materials to a 5 a second settlement conference September 15th.

6 party -- Public Counsel -- that was not a part of those 6 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: September 15th? Okay.

7 settlement discussions. 7 YOCHI ZAKAI: My apologies.

8 And so, even though Public Counsel may be bound 8 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: The reason I'm asking

9 by the protective order and would not be able to disclose 9 is -- is twofold: One, in consideration of Mr. Sykes'

10 that information publicly, the harm to the integrity of 10 vacation, which | want him to be able to enjoy; and then

11 the settlement process comes from disclosing settlement 11 also ensuring that, should we decide this information is

12 negotiations to nonparticipants, even if that disclosure 12 discoverable, that parties have adequate time to review

13 to a nonparticipant is subject to a protective order. 13 that and prepare testimony accordingly.

14 And so that's -- that's the concern we have here 14 | do think we can go ahead and have additional

15 and why we didn't provide this information subject to the 15 briefing submitted by the 15th. | think that should work.

16 protective order, which would be obviously the normal 16 And Judge Hughes and | will -- let me just crosscheck my

17 course of action for materials that are deemed 17 own calendar before | make any -- | think that we can

18 confidential or proprietary or commercially sensitive in 18 reasonably make an effort to get an order out on the issue

19 some other form. 19 before the end of that week -- before the 18th, if -- if

20 That's it. We're happy to brief this issue 20 briefing comes in by the 15th.

21 additionally, if that would be helpful. And your timeline 21 So | believe that should provide enough time for

22 and proposed length of briefing works for the company. 22 the parties to brief the issue, as requested, and then

23 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. Thank you very | 23 also for analysis of the information should it be

24 much. 24 discoverable before rebuttal testimony is due.

25 Ms. Madsen. 25 Does that sound reasonable to you, Mr. Sykes?
Page 39 Page 41

1 MICHELLE MADSEN: Thank you, Judge Thompson. 1 ROBERT SYKES: Yes, Your Honor.

2 AWEC supports briefing on this issue, and we can 2 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. Should --

3 make any timeline work should we submit a brief. 3 ADAM LOWNEY: Judge Thompson --

4 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. Thank you. 4 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Yes.

5 Mr. O'Brien. 5 ADAM LOWNEY: --if | may, just as you consider

6 COLIN O'BRIEN: The timeline works for Staff, 6 that timing, | think we also need to think about, if the

7 Your Honor. And | don't believe we take any position as 7 Commission does determine that this information is

8 far as the necessity of the briefing or not. 8 discoverable, that it will require time for the company to

9 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. Thank you. 9 compile it and distribute it to the parties.

10 And, Mr. Zakai. 10 So, if -- if | was tracking your timeline, if

11 YOCHI ZAKAI: No position on those issues. 11 youissued an order on the 18th or by the 18th, we would

12 Thank you. 12 need at least a week to prepare and compile the

13 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Great. Thank you. 13 information and then provide the appropriate

14 And, Mr. Sykes, when did you say rebuttal 14 confidentiality protections and distribute it to the

15 testimony is due? | don't have the procedural schedule up 15 parties.

16 in front of me. Is it August 5th, you said? 16 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: If you haven't compiled the

17 ROBERT SYKES: | think it's August 6th. | don't 17 information, then how can you assert that all of it is

18 have the schedule up either, but August 6th is ringing in 18 privileged?

19 my head for some reason. | will -- | am open to 19 AJAY KUMAR: Well, so | want to step in. We're

20 correction. 20 in the process of compiling the information. And we could

21 YOCHI ZAKAL: Yes. | confirmed it's August 6th. 21 probably -- and | apologize, Mr. Lowney. | think, if we

22 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. Do we have a | 22 were expecting a decision today, and it would have taken

23 second settlement conference on the schedule for after 23 us, like, an additional week to make sure we got

24 rebuttal? 24 everything gathered. But | think we can -- we are in the

25 YOCHI ZAKAI: | believe there's only one 25 process of compiling that. We can probably get it pretty
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Page 42
quickly after the 18th.

And | can say that the reason we can assert that
all of this is privileged is because we have -- we have
the -- the process isn't so much going through and
asserting what is privileged. It's going through -- we
have, you know, approximately, you know, six slide decks
per year over five years to review. And so it's just
going through and identifying -- because not -- in not all
of the meetings did we discuss realignment and

Page 44
are left for discussion today?

ADAM LOWNEY: There's nothing additional from
the company's perspective. Thank you.

JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. Thank you very
much. | appreciate everyone for your time and patience
today.

And | would also just like to note that we do
have a new court reporting company, and we have a new
court reporter with us today. So thank you very much for

© 0 N O O b WN P

14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

10 reallocation. And so it's just going through and making 10 being online with us today and for your time as well.
11 sure that the ones -- we are providing those specific 11 At this point, we can go off the record. And |
12 subset of slide decks that discuss reassignment or 12 wish everyone a good rest of your day and a happy 4th of
13 reallocation issues. 13 July.
14 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. So it sounds like | 14 (Hearing concluded at 2:28 p.m.)
15 the information could reasonably be compiled by the 18th. 15
16 Okay. 16
17 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: Does that -- does that 17
18 include any potential redactions if you were to submit 18
19 both a redacted/unredacted copies of these? 19
20 AJAY KUMAR: You know, we have to go through and 20
21 identify exactly how we would redact them because | think 21
22 it's -- you know, going back to Mr. Lowney's point 22
23 earlier, this was all labeled, you know, confidential 23
24 settlement discussions. And so we'd have to sort of 24
25 figure out if there's an easy way to redact them first. 25
Page 43 Page 45
1 JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES: No. That's fair. And | CERTI FI CATE
2 would, again, consider that, because UTC has it and anyone | STATE OF WASHINGTON )
3 could make a public records request, so the analysis in ) ss.
. COUNTY OF MASON )
4 RCW 80.04.095 may be helpful. Because not everything is a I the undersigned Washi ngton Certified Court
5 trade secret or will lead to the financial loss even fif, Reporter, do hereby certify: That the foregoing
6 you know, at the time you -- it was very special. Because proceedi ngs was taken stenographically before me and
7 it -- it has to actually create an unfair advantage to be reduced to a typed format under ny direction;
8 able to be withheld. That | amnot a relative or enployee of any
9 JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON: Okay. | think we -- aTtor n‘ey or counsel o-r pa-rt i ci pant a‘nd that | fam not
financially or otherw se interested in the action or the
10 we've got what we need today. out come her ei n:
11 I would ask that the parties who would like to That the proceedings as transcribed is a full,
12 submit briefing on the issue of the applicability of WAC true and correct transcript of the proceedings, including
13 480-07-706(b) including the issues discussed earlier, to questions and answers and al | objections, notions, and

include whether or not the multistate process is a
settlement discussion.

I'd ask that the parties keep the briefs to a
maximum of seven pages in length and that those be filed
with the Commission before the close of business on
July 15th.

In the interim, | would ask that PacifiCorp
continue to compile the information so that, should we
find it discoverable, that that information could be
turned over in a reasonable manner after that order came

exami nations, and said transcript was prepared pursuant to
the Washi ngton Adninistrative Code 308-14-135 preparation
gui del i nes;

That as a matter of firmpolicy, the
st enographic notes of this transcript will be destroyed
three years fromthe date appearing on this transcript,
unl ess notice is received otherwi se fromany party or

counsel on or before said date.

s/ JAM E LYNN, CCR
State of Washi ngton CCR #3281
My CCR certification expires on 10/20/2025

24 out. B&A Litigation Services
25 And, with that, are there any other issues that bi i a@alitigation.com
253.627.6401 BALITIGATION S schedule@balitigation.com
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 1             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Welcome, everybody.

 2   Good afternoon.  It is 1:30 p.m. on July 2, 2025.

 3             We are here this afternoon for a hearing to

 4   resolve a motion to compel filed by Public Counsel in

 5   Docket UE-250224, which is captioned Washington Utilities

 6   and Transportation Commission v. PacifiCorp, doing

 7   business as Pacific Power and Light Company.

 8             I think, to make the most effective use of our

 9   time this morning -- and, actually, before I get there, my

10   name is Connor Thompson.  I'm an Administrative Law Judge

11   with the Commission.  Here with me today is judge Bijun

12   Hughes, who is also an Administrative Law Judge with the

13   Commission.

14             To make the most effective use of our time

15   today, I think the way we ought to go ahead and handle the

16   issues is to go ahead and allow the parties to have three

17   to five minutes to give an overview of their position, if

18   they have any, and provide any updates or responses to the

19   positions which have been filed in responses since Public

20   Counsel's initial motion.

21             And I think, Public Counsel, you filed the

22   motion; so, if you want to go ahead and begin or if you

23   have an alternative proposal for how to handle today's

24   hearing, I'm open to hearing that as well.

25             ROBERT SYKES:  No.  I'll go ahead.  Thank you,
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 1   Your Honor.

 2             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you.

 3             ROBERT SYKES:  So you've had a chance to read

 4   the pleadings, I'm certain.  The issue here is actually

 5   very simple.

 6             We have asked for an analysis of alternatives to

 7   the allocations -- to some of the allocations proposed by

 8   PacifiCorp in the 2016 protocol, specifically the

 9   allocation of Chehalis, the removal of Hermiston, and the

10   allocation of Rolling Hills.

11             PacifiCorp, in its discovery responses, has

12   admitted it has performed an analysis of those allocate --

13   alternative analysis of those allocations, and it has

14   refused to give it to us.

15             It has hid behind the nondisclosure agreement as

16   part of the multistate process and as part of the

17   Framework Issues Working Group contending it as a

18   settlement negotiation.

19             If we -- setting aside our disagreement about

20   whether this is a settlement negotiation, we are not

21   asking for any party positions.  We're not asking for any

22   negotiation material.  We are asking for data -- the

23   analysis.  And PacifiCorp should provide it.  Or, if they

24   can't provide -- provide it, then I don't know why they're

25   before the Commission in the first place if they're
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 1   willing to actually give us the analysis that they did.

 2             So we have asked for an analysis.  PacifiCorp

 3   has it.  If they don't have it, they should tell us.  And,

 4   if they have it, they should give it to Public Counsel and

 5   the other parties so they can actually review alternatives

 6   that PacifiCorp considered.

 7             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

 8             And I forgot to do this at the outset.  Because

 9   we've already started, I'll just ask each party to enter

10   an appearance when it's your turn to discuss the issues.

11             And so my apologies.  Mr. Sykes, if you could

12   just, for the record, let everybody know who you are and

13   who you represent.

14             ROBERT SYKES:  Yes.  I'm Rob Sykes, and I'm with

15   Public Counsel.

16             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.

17             And for PacifiCorp.

18             ADAM LOWNEY:  Yes.  Judge Thompson, can you hear

19   me?

20             THE COURT:  I can.

21             ADAM LOWNEY:  All right.  Thank you.  And good

22   afternoon.

23             For the record, my name is Adam Lowney, and I'm

24   appearing today on behalf of PacifiCorp.

25             Public Counsel asks the Commission to order
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 1   PacifiCorp to divulge analysis that was prepared

 2   specifically and exclusively for confidential settlement

 3   discussions that were conducted as part of PacifiCorp's

 4   ongoing multistate process for MSP.

 5             The MSP is a collaborative effort amongst

 6   stakeholders in all six PacifiCorp states designed to

 7   resolve cost allocation issues.

 8             Granting Public Counsel's motion is directly

 9   counter to the Commission's own rules, would upend ongoing

10   MSP negotiations, and jeopardize future the multistate

11   collaboration by creating a strong disincentive for frank

12   and open settlement negotiations.

13             By way of background, when the Commission

14   approved PacifiCorp's current cost-allocation methodology,

15   the Washington interjurisdictional allocation methodology

16   or the WIJAM, the Commission recognized that the WIJAM did

17   not definitively resolve every issue in dispute among

18   PacifiCorp and stakeholders across its six-state service

19   area.

20             The Commission acknowledged that the additional

21   issues requiring negotiation and resolution would be

22   addressed through what the allocation protocol referred to

23   as the Framework Issues Group.

24             Since 2020, PacifiCorp and stakeholders from all

25   six states, including Washington, have diligently and in

0009

 1   good faith followed the Commission's direction and engaged

 2   in settlement negotiations through that work group.

 3             During the course of those settlement

 4   negotiations, PacifiCorp was asked by parties to prepare

 5   certain analyses.  PacifiCorp agreed to do so subject to a

 6   nondisclosure agreement and the clear and documented

 7   understanding that the requested analysis was being

 8   prepared exclusively for the confidential settlement

 9   discussions and could not be disclosure outside of those

10   negotiations.  It is this analysis that Public Counsel now

11   seeks.

12             Had PacifiCorp known that the analysis would

13   later be subject to discovery by parties like Public

14   Counsel that chose not to participate in the settlement

15   discussions, PacifiCorp would have declined to perform the

16   requested analysis.

17             In other words, and for the sake of clarity, the

18   requested analysis is not information that PacifiCorp had

19   on hand before the Framework Issues Group or analysis

20   PacifiCorp would have produced in the normal course of

21   business.  The analysis was created and the information

22   was provided only because it was requested by parties to

23   the confidential settlement discussions.

24             The Commission's own rules are unequivocal.

25   Settlement materials are confidential and not subject to
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 1   disclosure.  And the policy underlying the Commission's

 2   rules is clear.  The Commission encourages settlement and

 3   collaboration.  And, if materials provided during

 4   settlement discussion are later subject to discovery from

 5   nonparticipants, it will stifle the free flow of

 6   information that is critical to successful settlement

 7   negotiations.

 8             The integrity of the multistate process requires

 9   confidence among participants that what they provide as

10   they work with towards settlement will be protected from

11   disclosure.

12             It is also critical to understand that

13   PacifiCorp's concerns here are not simply focused on past

14   MSP settlement discussions.  The company continues to

15   engage stakeholders from all states, including Washington,

16   in ongoing MSP settlement discussions involving critical

17   issues like wildfires.

18             Like the materials Public Counsel seeks here,

19   those wildfire settlement discussions have utilized the

20   same tools to protect the confidentiality of materials

21   provided by PacifiCorp.

22             If this Commission determines that materials

23   provided confidentially in the context of MSP settlement

24   negotiations are now discoverable, then PacifiCorp will be

25   required to reconsider its ongoing participation in the
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 1   MSP settlement discussions and, frankly, all settlement

 2   discussions.  The chilling effect of a ruling in favor of

 3   Public Counsel will be immediate and far reaching.

 4             For these reasons, and for those additional

 5   reasons outlined in our written response, PacifiCorp

 6   requests that the Commission deny Public Counsel's motion.

 7             Thank you.  And I'm available to answer

 8   questions you might have.

 9             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  I --

10   I do have some questions.

11             But, first, I'm going to go ahead and ask AWEC,

12   if you would like to turn on your camera.  Thank you.  And

13   I know that you filed a response as well.  And so, if you

14   wanted to go ahead, for the record, and make an appearance

15   and then go ahead and state your position.

16             MICHELLE MADSEN:  Thank you, Judge Thompson and

17   Judge Hughes.  My name is Michelle Madison with Davison

18   Van Cleve on behalf of AWEC.  Ms. Sommer Moser is also on

19   the line.

20             As noted, we filed comments this previous Monday

21   in response to the Public Counsel's motion to compel.  We

22   would just like to affirm those comments and support

23   Public Counsel's request -- respectful request to grant

24   its motion to compel.

25             We're open for questions if anyone has them.
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 1             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

 2             I will also ask Staff if you would like to make

 3   an appearance and then please let us know if you have any

 4   comments or anything to weigh in here.

 5             COLIN O'BRIEN:  Yeah.  Good afternoon, Your

 6   Honor.  Colin O'Brien representing Staff.

 7             Just briefly, Staff would support Public

 8   Counsel's motion.  The -- and for much the same reasons

 9   that have already been stated, not to be too duplicative.

10             I would just have a brief add that the relevance

11   standard that Pac cites for their response to Public

12   Counsel's motion is not actually accurate or at least

13   misstates part of the standard in that Pac is claiming

14   that only relevant information can be requested.  But, in

15   reality, the rest of the sentence they're relying on

16   states that information which could lead to the production

17   of relevant information can also be requested.

18             And just that this -- even if the standard was

19   flat relevance, as they -- as PacifiCorp states, the --

20   the -- the data would be relevant given the fact that

21   PacifiCorp both was ordered to present alternatives in

22   this case, making alternative analyses relevant as stated

23   by the Commission, and also the general provisions of WAC

24   480-07-400 that state a party must be willing to provide

25   alternatives or provide reruns, recalculations of data
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 1   pursuant to data requests.

 2             And that is all I have, and I'm available for

 3   questions as well.

 4             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you very

 5   much.

 6             I also see Mr. Zakai is on from the Energy

 7   Project.

 8             YOCHI ZAKAI:  Yes.  Good afternoon.  For the

 9   record, my name is Yochi Zakai, with Shute, Mahaly &

10   Weinberger representing the Energy Project today.

11             The Energy Project would like to support Public

12   Counsel's motion.  We think it is reasonable to request

13   that, if there is, you know, an analysis that has a

14   different allocation, that that be provided.

15             We understand the need to not reveal party

16   positions in settlement negotiation, and we don't see that

17   being requested here.  The fact that PacifiCorp has an

18   analysis and provides it does not mean that PacifiCorp is

19   stating that they support it.  It's just the production of

20   data.  And I think that's an important consideration for

21   the Commission and parties to make when reviewing the

22   data.

23             So thank you.

24             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.

25             At this point, I will ask if we have any other
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 1   parties on the line who would like to weigh in.  I don't

 2   believe we have any others.

 3             Okay.  Hearing none, I do have a couple of

 4   questions.

 5             First, I guess, Mr. Lowney, for the relevance

 6   argument, do you have any response to the point made by

 7   Staff?

 8             ADAM LOWNEY:  Yes.  Thank you.

 9             To the extent that the motion was construed to

10   misstate that standard, that is an inadvertent error.

11             We stand by the position that the requested

12   analysis is not relevant because the 2026 protocol that

13   was proposed in this case was not built on or not crafted

14   in consideration of that -- the analysis that was

15   performed previously.

16             However, our primary objection rests on the fact

17   that these -- this analysis was provided pursuant to

18   settlement discussions.  And so, even if you were to

19   determine it was relevant, it's still not discoverable

20   under the Commission's alternative dispute resolution

21   rules.

22             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  And just to be

23   clear, the information that we're talking about deals with

24   alternative allocations; correct?

25             ADAM LOWNEY:  Yes.  At a high level, during the
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 1   course of the Framework Issues Group, which is comprised

 2   of parties from all six of PacifiCorp states, various

 3   parties at various times would ask the company to perform

 4   essentially some version of scenario analysis that would

 5   explore the impacts of different allocation methodologies.

 6             Understanding that that analysis was being

 7   performed confidentially for purposes of those settlement

 8   discussions, PacifiCorp agreed to provide the analysis and

 9   to perform the analysis the parties had requested.  And

10   that is the analysis that is now being requested by Public

11   Counsel.

12             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the analyses

13   of alternatives that were prepared, were any of those

14   prepared by any party other than PacifiCorp?

15             ADAM LOWNEY:  Not to my knowledge.  And that

16   would not be information that we would be providing in

17   response to the discovery request.

18             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  And I don't

19   construe your argument to be that the NDA precludes

20   disclosure simply because PacifiCorp produced the data and

21   would be the party harmed.  But just so that I'm -- I'm

22   clear, PacifiCorp didn't execute an NDA as part of this

23   process.  Other parties executed the NDAs as part of this

24   process; is that correct?

25             ADAM LOWNEY:  That is correct.  Other parties
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 1   executed the NDA in exchange for PacifiCorp performing the

 2   analysis.

 3             And so, implicit, if not explicit, is that

 4   PacifiCorp was only performing and providing the analysis

 5   subject to the understanding it was not going to be

 6   disclosed to any party that was not participating in the

 7   settlement discussions.

 8             THE COURT:  Okay.  Mr. Sykes, do you have any

 9   response to PacifiCorp's argument that this shouldn't be

10   nondiscoverable because these documents or this data was

11   produced as part of settlement discussions?

12             ROBERT SYKES:  Yeah.  And I want to specifically

13   address the point of the NDA.

14             Mr. Lowney is correct.  Parties asked for this

15   analysis in exchange and -- and PacifiCorp gave them an

16   NDA to sign so it wouldn't be disclosed.  That's fine.  If

17   I asked AWEC for this analysis, I shouldn't get it.  I'm

18   asking PacifiCorp for its own work product.

19             That was produced -- or that is not covered by

20   the NDA.  The NDA doesn't apply to PacifiCorp.  PacifiCorp

21   should rest assured that the Commission has its own

22   confidentiality rules.  It's not going to get outside of

23   the parties that have signed a confidentiality agreement

24   in this case.

25             And, you know, we're not asking for whether
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 1   PacifiCorp thinks that alternative analysis was good or

 2   bad.  We're just asking for the data itself.  And

 3   PacifiCorp has admitted in its response and today in this

 4   hearing that it has the data.  And it is relevant because

 5   it is an alternative analysis to what has been given to

 6   us.

 7             Can I briefly talk about the relevance issue?

 8             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Sure.  Go ahead.

 9             ROBERT SYKES:  So this issue that it's not

10   relevant because the allocate -- the 2026 protocol is not

11   built on the analysis that was done as part of MSP, that

12   misconstrues the discovery request.

13             Our discovery request is not, "Give us the

14   analysis that this 2026 protocol was built on."  They have

15   to give that to us anyway.  It is, "Give us the analysis

16   of the alternatives so that we can judge it."  That is the

17   relevance of the discovery request.

18             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  On that point, quickly

19   before you get to any response on the issue of this being

20   produced as part of settlement discussions, I've reviewed

21   the motion and the responses as well as the attachments,

22   but I want to make sure I've read the data request too

23   correctly.

24             You were asking for any and all alternatives,

25   not just those that are specific to the multistate
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 1   process; is that correct?

 2             ROBERT SYKES:  That is correct.

 3             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  And the response was,

 4   there are alternative analyses but those were part of the

 5   multistate process?

 6             ROBERT SYKES:  Correct.

 7             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Okay.  And, if

 8   you have any response to PacifiCorp's argument regarding

 9   these documents being produced as part of the settlement

10   process, I'd -- I'd appreciate hearing those.

11             ROBERT SYKES:  Sure.  Public Counsel disagrees

12   that the multistate process is a settlement negotiation.

13   It is a proof of stakeholders working out issues that --

14   that PacifiCorp's multistate system will generate as part

15   of being a six-state -- six-state utility.  That is a --

16   that is a business negotiation.  It is not a settlement

17   negotiation, certainly not a settlement negotiation that

18   would be subject to the WAC confidentiality provisions

19   which apply to Commission adjudication or ADR in the

20   context of Commission adjudication.

21             And then Mr. Lowney mentioned the concerns about

22   the integrity of the ongoing MSP.  My understanding -- and

23   he can correct me if I'm wrong -- is that PacifiCorp ended

24   the multistate process sometime last year so there is no

25   ongoing MSP to be concerned about.
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 1             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

 2             Mr. Lowney, in your response to Public Counsel's

 3   motion specifically looking at -- let me make sure I have

 4   the paragraph number correct -- paragraph 7 where you

 5   state, "The Commission supports parties in formal efforts

 6   to resolve disputes without the need for contested

 7   hearing, and its rules expressly state that information

 8   exchanged exclusively within the context of settlement

 9   negotiations will be treated as confidential and be -- and

10   will be privileged against disclosure to the extent

11   permitted by law," you cite to WAC 480-07-706(b).  And I

12   just want to hear your thoughts as to -- I have WAC

13   480-07-706(b) pulled up before me.  And looking at (a) and

14   (b), I'm just reconciling those.

15             Is it your position that that provision of the

16   rule applies to disclosure through discovery or disclosure

17   to the public as nonconfidential information?

18             ADAM LOWNEY:  I read the language of the rule as

19   its written, which is nondisclosure, which would be not

20   subject to discovery, even discovery that would be

21   covered, for example, by a protective order.

22             I think the language is -- is clear on its face.

23   It doesn't say it's subject to production with appropriate

24   protections.  It says it is not subject to disclosure.

25   And that, I think, is -- is literally the position that
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 1   PacifiCorp has taken in this case which is, even if there

 2   had not been a nondisclosure agreement because the process

 3   that -- in which these analyses were produced was

 4   settlement negotiations, it's protected from disclosure

 5   under this rule.

 6             The NDA simply provided an additional and

 7   explicit layer of protection over and above that provided

 8   by -- by the Commission's rules.

 9             And I think it's important too to note that,

10   when you look at this rule, it doesn't say anything about

11   a party's internal position is -- is subject to

12   disclosure.  It's only that you are prevented from

13   disclosing other parties' positions, which is essentially

14   what Public Counsel is arguing with request to the NDA.

15             I think this language in the rule is unequivocal

16   that all information provided as part of a settlement

17   negotiation is protected from disclosure to parties that

18   didn't participate in that settlement negotiation, which,

19   in this case, is Public Counsel.

20             I would also add in response to Public Counsel's

21   comment about whether or not the MSP discussions are

22   ongoing.  I used MSP in a very generic way.

23             There are discussions ongoing around wildfire

24   issues, which is the specific topic that I brought up in

25   my comments only to emphasize the fact that, while cost

0021

 1   allocation in a general sense has not continued,

 2   allocation of costs and implementation of wildfire

 3   mitigation efforts, as an example, are ongoing amongst all

 4   six states.

 5             So that was the point of my comment only to

 6   suggest that there are still discussions going on under

 7   the general penumbra of the MSP, even though the specific

 8   negotiations that were contemplated by the 2020 protocol

 9   have not -- or have ended.

10             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.

11             Judge Hughes, do you have any questions?

12             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  I do.

13             Mr. Lowney, can I point you to Subsection C of

14   sub -- of Section 6 that we've been just talking about?

15   It starts with, "Participants in a Commission-sanctioned

16   ADR process must periodically advise any nonparticipating

17   parties."

18             I guess my question is what is the

19   Commission-sanctioned ADR process at issue here?

20             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, as we outline in our -- in

21   our written filing, I think, if you read the -- that ADR

22   rule broadly, it says it governs any dispute -- any

23   mechanism to resolve disagreements in whole or in part,

24   and it includes voluntary negotiation which is what we

25   would describe as happening under the -- the MSP.
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 1             And --

 2             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  -- doesn't answer my

 3   question.  What is the -- did the Commission sanction an

 4   ADR process here?

 5             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well --

 6             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  -- this very, very broadly

 7   to include any settlement negotiation in any -- anywhere?

 8             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I think --

 9             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  -- that seems --

10             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I think that, as we outlined

11   in our written filing, when -- and, if you look at the

12   Commission's order approving the 2020 protocol and the

13   WIJAM, it explained within that order the -- the same

14   framework that was outlined in the 2020 protocol itself,

15   which is that there are certain issues that were subject

16   to ongoing and continued negotiation and resolution.

17             Those are issues then that would eventually, as

18   the Commission's own order explains, would be brought to

19   the Commission for approval or rejection at some future

20   time.

21             And so, to the extent that these negotiations

22   were contemplated and specifically a part of the 2020

23   protocol that was approved by the Commission in 2020, that

24   would fall clearly under the "any mechanism to resolve a

25   dispute over which the Commission has jurisdiction,"
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 1   because we were working with parties in Washington amongst

 2   the other states at a resolution that then would be

 3   presented eventually to the -- to the Washington

 4   Commission.

 5             Now, we never got a resolution, unfortunately,

 6   which is why we're where we're at today.  But that doesn't

 7   mean that the negotiation process that was contemplated by

 8   the 2020 protocol and by the Commission itself, when it

 9   approved that protocol, is not an ADR process within the

10   very broad language encompassed by the Commission's rules.

11             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Right.  If -- if this were

12   a Commission-sanctioned ADR process, did PacifiCorp at any

13   point update the Commission as Part C requires?

14             ADAM LOWNEY:  I can't speak to -- I don't know

15   if the -- if the company was providing regular updates to

16   the Commission or not --

17             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Because if it was under

18   the -- it would seem -- it would have to.

19             Who is that?

20             AJAY KUMAR:  Thank you, Judge Hughes.  And I

21   apologize for jumping in.  My same Ajay Kumar.  I'm chief

22   regulatory counsel for PacifiCorp.  And Mr. Lowney does

23   not have direct knowledge of this topic, but I could

24   answer your question, if that would be appropriate.

25             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Please do.
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 1             AJAY KUMAR:  Yes.  The -- the company would

 2   provide regular meetings, and we would provide updates to

 3   Commissioners.  And there is a Commissioner forum process

 4   during which, at times, we would also provide updates to

 5   Commissioners from all six of our states, along with

 6   meeting individually with Commissioners.  And they would

 7   ask about what's going on in MSP, and we'd give them sort

 8   of a -- generalized updates.

 9             And then we have also to -- I think also you --

10   the rule touches on, you know, whether or not Public

11   Counsel is invited to participate.  And we did try

12   multiple times over the years to work with Public Counsel

13   to -- to allow them to -- to participate as well.

14             And so I think I can speak to those factual

15   issues.

16             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Very good.

17             Mr. Lowney, I'd like to turn to the Subsection B

18   where it says "to the extent permitted by law."

19             Looking at, I believe, paragraph 7 of your

20   brief, there's a very abrupt therefore the information

21   request by public counsel is (inaudible) disclosure.

22             I don't if you've ever practiced Public Records

23   Act in Washington state, but there is a distinction

24   between regulations and statutes in terms of, like, what

25   can we use to withhold disclosure.
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 1             So I don't see an RCW cite.  So I guess I'm

 2   curious.  To the extent permitted by law, is there a

 3   specific law that you believe is applicable, like, for

 4   example, the commercial information statute?

 5             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I would say, generally, the

 6   information that was provided as part of the MSP

 7   discussions is -- would be proprietarily and commercially

 8   sensitive information.  It would be the same type of

 9   information that we would provide subject to a protective

10   order in a Commission regulation -- or excuse me -- a

11   Commission proceeding.

12             I would say, in our brief, we didn't address the

13   public records laws because nobody brought up the public

14   records laws as a basis for requiring disclosure of this

15   information.  But, if subsequent briefly would be helpful

16   on that issue, we're happy to provide it.

17             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  No.  I bring it up just

18   because, if I were to file a PRA right now of the UTC and

19   ask for this information, they would have to go through

20   that RCW analysis to determine if they could withhold it.

21   And I just -- that seems absent here.  You haven't cited

22   to a law of why this is commercial information.

23             It's an agreement amongst private parties and in

24   a very broad look at the WAC.  So you believe this is both

25   nondiscoverable and nonadmissible.  And could you explain
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 1   the -- the difference in your thinking there between those

 2   two concepts?

 3             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I think -- I think you could

 4   actually just look at Subsection 6 of the ADR rule.  I

 5   mean, if you look Subsection A, it deals with

 6   admissibility.  And -- and that pretty clearly says

 7   statements made by parties are not admissible as evidence

 8   in formal proceedings.  But Subsection B, which is the one

 9   that we are relying on, is broader, and it says

10   information is not subject to disclosure.

11             And disclosure, in our minds, would be -- this

12   is a perfect example of a disclosure that's -- that's

13   prohibited by that rule.  A party that was not a part of

14   the settlement discussions ask specific or to provide

15   information that was provided within those settlement

16   discussions.  If we were to provide that information to

17   Public Counsel, that would be a very clear form of

18   disclosure which is prohibited by Subsection B.

19             Now, admissibility is a second issue.  If we are

20   ordered, for example, to provide this information to

21   Public Counsel, we may have a future conflict to the

22   extent they try to admit that evidence into record if that

23   evidence falls under Subsection 6(a).

24             We've not crossed that bridge at this point

25   because we're not at the place where anybody is moving to
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 1   admit this -- this information into the record.  But that

 2   could be an issue that we face down the road in the event

 3   someone tries to do that.  And --

 4             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Okay.  Let me ask you,

 5   though.

 6             There's an assertion of confidentiality in our

 7   regulations in protective orders set out a process for

 8   asserting that.  I don't have an in camera copy of the

 9   records.  I don't know how many records exist.  How are we

10   to make a determination about the relevance or anything

11   without being able to see them?

12             Wouldn't the proper way of handling this have

13   been to provide the information and then move -- let's --

14   for a special order for protection?  Can you talk to me

15   about that?

16             Why -- why wasn't a motion to protect brought or

17   a confidentially asserted as the regulations require?

18             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, because our position is that

19   this information should not be disclosed.

20             And I will say, if we are required to disclose

21   it, we will disclosed it subject to a -- I assume we will

22   disclose it subject to the confidentiality protections in

23   the protective order that's -- that's already been issued

24   in this docket.

25             To the extent that a Commission wishes to have
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 1   an in camera review, we're certainly willing to facilitate

 2   that.  But the basis of our objection was that this is

 3   just not discoverable.  It's -- the -- the regulation says

 4   that it shall not be disclosed.

 5             And so there was no reason to take that

 6   additional step of providing protections in the event it

 7   is disclosed, which is what I'm understanding your

 8   question to be, unless I'm misunderstanding.

 9             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  I guess, if we don't know

10   how many records there are -- if you don't identify

11   that -- I'm -- I'm struggling to see how -- how we're --

12   how you think this rule would play it.  It's kind of an

13   absurd result because there -- you would just not say --

14   you're not saying how many records exist.  You're not

15   really defining the scope of what you consider.  There's

16   really no way for me -- a neutral third party to judge

17   that.  So I just -- I guess I want to ask how many records

18   responsive to this request exist.

19             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I would perhaps ask

20   Mr. Kumar to weigh in on that one.  But, before we do

21   that, I would need to understand what you mean by a

22   record.  As a -- as a document or --

23             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Well, that's fair.  I --

24   having been trained under Foley and PRA, records generally

25   refer to any form of writing.  And, at least in the
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 1   concept of delivery of process, which deals with the sort

 2   of give and take that we're talking about here, in fears

 3   of chilling discussion, there is within that doctrine a

 4   distinction between factual information within a record

 5   and delivered information with the record.

 6             So I'm -- I suppose, touching that doctrine and

 7   how I'm thinking about this -- because, if there are

 8   company position, why would reasonably segregating them

 9   not be an appropriate remedy for your problem?

10             Can you simply redact the confidential

11   information and provide the rest?  Why is that not -- why

12   wasn't that an option that was pursued here?

13             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I think that the -- the

14   problem is that there is no -- there is no redaction that

15   can occur because everything -- you know, if a party asked

16   you in settlement discussions to prepare a certain

17   analysis and provide that to the parties, we prepare that

18   analysis.  We typically convey that information through a

19   PowerPoint slide deck with supporting work papers.

20             Everything that's performed and provided to the

21   parties was done so only because we were engaged in

22   settlement discussions with those parties.  And so there

23   is no redaction that can take place that would redact only

24   some of the information because all of the information was

25   provided in accordance with the settlement discussions.
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 1             Now, to your point, I understand there is a

 2   distinction between, you know, commercially sensitive or

 3   proprietary information or maybe information that conveys

 4   a particular party's position in a negotiation from

 5   simply, you know, factual information about what the

 6   weather with was like on a particular day.

 7             We're not taking about factual information like

 8   what the weather was like on a particular day.  None of

 9   this information was -- was generated in any form in the

10   normal course of PacifiCorp's business.  It was generated

11   specifically because a party asked for it as part of a

12   confidential settlement discussion.

13             And so redaction of certain documents just

14   doesn't -- we would redact everything because our position

15   is none of this information is -- is discoverable because

16   it was all provided through settlement negotiations.

17             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Well, I won't take this up

18   too much.  I do invite you to look up the delivery process

19   privilege and specifically the consultant corollary and

20   the considerations, which sound very similar to what

21   you're talking about, has been resolved by other courts

22   when examining sensitive information created in

23   negotiation and process.  It's slightly different because

24   it has to do with the executive's power.

25             But I'm just -- it's difficult to buy an entire
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 1   document is confidential, including the headers and

 2   whatever crafts are in there.  But --

 3             AJAY KUMAR:  Judge Hughes, maybe I can speak to

 4   the factual -- the actual factual documents and provide,

 5   you know, overview of the exact information that you're

 6   looking at.

 7             So the -- and the way the MSP process worked was

 8   we -- essentially, we'd have meetings around two month --

 9   two months.  We would, you know, talk to the parties.

10   There'd be back-and-forth discussions.  We'd all get

11   together either virtually or, you know, in a certain

12   location.  And we'd have parties from all six of our

13   states there.  And there -- essentially, the company

14   would -- would have a slide deck that facilitates those

15   discussions.

16             Each slide deck, since the beginning of the

17   Framework Issues Work Group has been labeled as

18   confidential settlement discussions.  You can see that --

19   that disclaimer on every single slide deck we have had in

20   the entirety of the Framework Issues Work Group.

21             I believe there are maybe roughly half a -- a

22   dozen or maybe a dozen to 16 presentations that would

23   cover information that essentially parties requested or

24   that we provided in order to facilitate those settlement

25   discussions around our cost allocation protocol.
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 1             And those -- the -- any additional information

 2   would be work papers that support the -- the analysis that

 3   was provided in those slide decks.

 4             That's the scope of the information that we're

 5   discussing here.

 6             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Thank you.  That's very

 7   helpful.  I'm going to turn back to ALJ Thompson.

 8             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you.

 9             I think I just have one additional question that

10   that back and forth spurred.  And then I'll go ahead and

11   turn to -- to the remainder of the parties to ask if

12   anybody else has any additional comments that may have

13   come up during this conversation.

14             And I'm not sure whether this should be directed

15   at you, Mr. Lowney, or you, Mr. Kumar.  But question is

16   are the only alternative analyses that PacifiCorp has for

17   the allocation methodology proposed in this docket those

18   contained in the multistate process?  There weren't any

19   other done?

20             AJAY KUMAR:  I can probably speak to that most

21   easily.  And, yes, that's true.

22             The only -- the only alternative analyses that

23   we ever did was in discussions with parties in the MSP

24   process regarding, you know, possible limited realignment

25   or reassignment issues.
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 1             When it came time to develop the 2026 protocol,

 2   there wasn't any analysis because, to be honest, the

 3   changing nature of Washington laws and the Climate

 4   Commitment Act made it painfully obvious kind of to the

 5   company what the allocation methodology should be.  And so

 6   it was just a matter of putting together all the things

 7   that we required for the filing and that we've provided

 8   already to the parties in discovery.

 9             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.

10             I'll go ahead and -- and turn to Public Counsel

11   first and just ask if you have any additional comments or

12   responses that you'd like us to take under consideration.

13             ROBERT SYKES:  I have no other comments except

14   to say that it sounds like they did the math that we're

15   asking about.  They have work papers.

16             There's a substantial body of law that I did not

17   get into in this motion because it didn't seem relevant at

18   the time that simply stamping something as confidential

19   settlement negotiations doesn't make it so.

20             But, at a minimum, they've admitted again they

21   did -- they did an analysis.  They had work papers.  Other

22   parties should be entitled to see that as an alternative

23   to what they are proposing here today.

24             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you.

25             And, Ms. Madsen, do you have anything else to
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 1   add?

 2             MICHELLE MADSEN:  Thank you, Judge Thompson.

 3             I would just add that AWEC continues to believe

 4   that the data in question are facts that are separate from

 5   settlement positions and that they would not, in that

 6   light, violate the DNA.  It is facts that belong to

 7   PacifiCorp that were made at the -- that were then further

 8   analyzed at the request of parties.  But the facts

 9   themselves should not be subject to the NDA.

10             Thank you.

11             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Mr. O'Brien.

12             COLIN O'BRIEN:  I would just echo and Staff

13   would just echo the other parties' comments that allowing

14   PacifiCorp to withhold this information simply because

15   they happen to have been used for a work group when the

16   underlying facts are simply facts that the company has and

17   other parties do not just would contribute to further

18   widening of the already large information gap that

19   companies and noncompany parties face.  And we would

20   support this motion.

21             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.

22             And Mr. Zakai.

23             YOCHI ZAKAI:  Yes.  Thank you.

24             I would just add that there are different

25   allocations for different plans that are going to be

0035

 1   considered in this proceeding and that had been considered

 2   in various different, you know, venues in the past.  And,

 3   yeah, they're all, you know, relevant to how we move

 4   forward here and have all contributed to the overall base

 5   of knowledge that was used by PacifiCorp and other parties

 6   in developing the positions here.

 7             So thank you.

 8             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.

 9             So I think what I would like to do is, first, I

10   believe, as to the issue of relevance, that these

11   documents are relevant;

12             Second, to the issue of the nondisclosure

13   agreement, I don't believe that that precludes disclosure

14   in this instance, nor is it particularly applicable.

15             However -- and this is a question to the

16   parties.  What I'm thinking is asking for a little bit of

17   additional briefing on the applicability of WAC

18   480-07-706(b), particularly to the issues of whether or

19   not the multistate process is a settlement process and, if

20   so, whether 480-07-706(b) would preclude disclosure in

21   this instance.

22             If anybody wants to go there, I'd welcome

23   additional briefing as to why the protective order in this

24   case is not sufficient to adequately protect that

25   information and preserve the integrity of the process.
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 1             I don't believe that we really need that much of

 2   additional briefing to make a decision on that point.  I'm

 3   thinking seven pages at -- you know, would probably be

 4   more than sufficient.

 5             If anybody has alternative thoughts, I'm open to

 6   hearing those.  And I'll ask here in just a moment for

 7   that.

 8             I do know that we have the 4th of July this

 9   week, and so I don't want to impose a deadline that is

10   overly burdensome.  But I also do not want to prejudice

11   any party in their ability to process this case because we

12   are moving on a relatively quick procedural schedule in

13   getting this information, if -- if we so determine that it

14   needs to be disclosed.

15             And so I'm looking at my calendar.  And I think,

16   taking into account that the 4th is Friday, perhaps

17   requiring that additional briefing be due by close of

18   business on Thursday, July 10th, seems like it may provide

19   enough time.

20             It's not required of the parties, but certainly

21   I would -- I would think that Public Counsel and the

22   company would want to submit briefing on the issue.  And

23   so that is the direction I'm leaning right now.  And we

24   would aim to get an order out expeditiously after that

25   point in time.

0037

 1             And so I'll just first turn to Public Counsel

 2   and ask if that proposal seems reasonable and if you have

 3   any request to amend that proposal.

 4             ROBERT SYKES:  That proposal sounds reasonable

 5   to me.  My one concern -- well, I have two concerns.

 6             My first concern is that I'm going to be on

 7   vacation next week so I won't be able to submit anything

 8   by the 10th.  So that -- Tuesday the 15th, if that's

 9   possible.  But my one concern there is that we're getting

10   awfully close to the August 6th response testimony

11   deadline.  So I just want to raise those two constraints

12   with you and defer to you, Judge -- Judge Thompson.

13             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

14             Mr. Lowney.

15             ROBERT SYKES:  Briefly, Judge Thompson.  If the

16   10th is the date that is best, for the Commission, I'm

17   sure that I can have another attorney in my office help

18   out.

19             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.

20             ADAM LOWNEY:  Judge Thompson, That proposal will

21   work for PacifiCorp.

22             I would say I'm happy to also address the

23   question that you just posed now to the extent it wasn't

24   already addressed; and, that is, from our perspective, the

25   reason the Commission's protective order is insufficient
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 1   here is because that protective order protects the parties

 2   from disclosing publicly information that's provided to

 3   them subject to that protective order.

 4             What we're talking about here is disclosure of

 5   confidential settlement negotiation materials to a

 6   party -- Public Counsel -- that was not a part of those

 7   settlement discussions.

 8             And so, even though Public Counsel may be bound

 9   by the protective order and would not be able to disclose

10   that information publicly, the harm to the integrity of

11   the settlement process comes from disclosing settlement

12   negotiations to nonparticipants, even if that disclosure

13   to a nonparticipant is subject to a protective order.

14             And so that's -- that's the concern we have here

15   and why we didn't provide this information subject to the

16   protective order, which would be obviously the normal

17   course of action for materials that are deemed

18   confidential or proprietary or commercially sensitive in

19   some other form.

20             That's it.  We're happy to brief this issue

21   additionally, if that would be helpful.  And your timeline

22   and proposed length of briefing works for the company.

23             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you very

24   much.

25             Ms. Madsen.
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 1             MICHELLE MADSEN:  Thank you, Judge Thompson.

 2             AWEC supports briefing on this issue, and we can

 3   make any timeline work should we submit a brief.

 4             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

 5             Mr. O'Brien.

 6             COLIN O'BRIEN:  The timeline works for Staff,

 7   Your Honor.  And I don't believe we take any position as

 8   far as the necessity of the briefing or not.

 9             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

10             And, Mr. Zakai.

11             YOCHI ZAKAI:  No position on those issues.

12   Thank you.

13             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Great.  Thank you.

14             And, Mr. Sykes, when did you say rebuttal

15   testimony is due?  I don't have the procedural schedule up

16   in front of me.  Is it August 5th, you said?

17             ROBERT SYKES:  I think it's August 6th.  I don't

18   have the schedule up either, but August 6th is ringing in

19   my head for some reason.  I will -- I am open to

20   correction.

21             YOCHI ZAKAI:  Yes.  I confirmed it's August 6th.

22             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Do we have a

23   second settlement conference on the schedule for after

24   rebuttal?

25             YOCHI ZAKAI:  I believe there's only one
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 1   scheduling conference on the schedule right now.

 2             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  I'm just thinking

 3   through here.

 4             ROBERT SYKES:  Your Honor, it looks like there's

 5   a second settlement conference September 15th.

 6             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  September 15th?  Okay.

 7             YOCHI ZAKAI:  My apologies.

 8             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  The reason I'm asking

 9   is -- is twofold:  One, in consideration of Mr. Sykes'

10   vacation, which I want him to be able to enjoy; and then

11   also ensuring that, should we decide this information is

12   discoverable, that parties have adequate time to review

13   that and prepare testimony accordingly.

14             I do think we can go ahead and have additional

15   briefing submitted by the 15th.  I think that should work.

16   And Judge Hughes and I will -- let me just crosscheck my

17   own calendar before I make any -- I think that we can

18   reasonably make an effort to get an order out on the issue

19   before the end of that week -- before the 18th, if -- if

20   briefing comes in by the 15th.

21             So I believe that should provide enough time for

22   the parties to brief the issue, as requested, and then

23   also for analysis of the information should it be

24   discoverable before rebuttal testimony is due.

25             Does that sound reasonable to you, Mr. Sykes?
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 1             ROBERT SYKES:  Yes, Your Honor.

 2             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Should --

 3             ADAM LOWNEY:  Judge Thompson --

 4             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Yes.

 5             ADAM LOWNEY:  -- if I may, just as you consider

 6   that timing, I think we also need to think about, if the

 7   Commission does determine that this information is

 8   discoverable, that it will require time for the company to

 9   compile it and distribute it to the parties.

10             So, if -- if I was tracking your timeline, if

11   you issued an order on the 18th or by the 18th, we would

12   need at least a week to prepare and compile the

13   information and then provide the appropriate

14   confidentiality protections and distribute it to the

15   parties.

16             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  If you haven't compiled the

17   information, then how can you assert that all of it is

18   privileged?

19             AJAY KUMAR:  Well, so I want to step in.  We're

20   in the process of compiling the information.  And we could

21   probably -- and I apologize, Mr. Lowney.  I think, if we

22   were expecting a decision today, and it would have taken

23   us, like, an additional week to make sure we got

24   everything gathered.  But I think we can -- we are in the

25   process of compiling that.  We can probably get it pretty
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 1   quickly after the 18th.

 2             And I can say that the reason we can assert that

 3   all of this is privileged is because we have -- we have

 4   the -- the process isn't so much going through and

 5   asserting what is privileged.  It's going through -- we

 6   have, you know, approximately, you know, six slide decks

 7   per year over five years to review.  And so it's just

 8   going through and identifying -- because not -- in not all

 9   of the meetings did we discuss realignment and

10   reallocation.  And so it's just going through and making

11   sure that the ones -- we are providing those specific

12   subset of slide decks that discuss reassignment or

13   reallocation issues.

14             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  So it sounds like

15   the information could reasonably be compiled by the 18th.

16   Okay.

17             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Does that -- does that

18   include any potential redactions if you were to submit

19   both a redacted/unredacted copies of these?

20             AJAY KUMAR:  You know, we have to go through and

21   identify exactly how we would redact them because I think

22   it's -- you know, going back to Mr. Lowney's point

23   earlier, this was all labeled, you know, confidential

24   settlement discussions.  And so we'd have to sort of

25   figure out if there's an easy way to redact them first.
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 1             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  No.  That's fair.  And I

 2   would, again, consider that, because UTC has it and anyone

 3   could make a public records request, so the analysis in

 4   RCW 80.04.095 may be helpful.  Because not everything is a

 5   trade secret or will lead to the financial loss even if,

 6   you know, at the time you -- it was very special.  Because

 7   it -- it has to actually create an unfair advantage to be

 8   able to be withheld.

 9             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  I think we --

10   we've got what we need today.

11             I would ask that the parties who would like to

12   submit briefing on the issue of the applicability of WAC

13   480-07-706(b) including the issues discussed earlier, to

14   include whether or not the multistate process is a

15   settlement discussion.

16             I'd ask that the parties keep the briefs to a

17   maximum of seven pages in length and that those be filed

18   with the Commission before the close of business on

19   July 15th.

20             In the interim, I would ask that PacifiCorp

21   continue to compile the information so that, should we

22   find it discoverable, that that information could be

23   turned over in a reasonable manner after that order came

24   out.

25             And, with that, are there any other issues that
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 1   are left for discussion today?

 2             ADAM LOWNEY:  There's nothing additional from

 3   the company's perspective.  Thank you.

 4             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you very

 5   much.  I appreciate everyone for your time and patience

 6   today.

 7             And I would also just like to note that we do

 8   have a new court reporting company, and we have a new

 9   court reporter with us today.  So thank you very much for

10   being online with us today and for your time as well.

11             At this point, we can go off the record.  And I

12   wish everyone a good rest of your day and a happy 4th of

13   July.

14                       (Hearing concluded at 2:28 p.m.)
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		306						LN		12		11		false		11   standard that Pac cites for their response to Public				false

		307						LN		12		12		false		12   Counsel's motion is not actually accurate or at least				false

		308						LN		12		13		false		13   misstates part of the standard in that Pac is claiming				false

		309						LN		12		14		false		14   that only relevant information can be requested.  But, in				false

		310						LN		12		15		false		15   reality, the rest of the sentence they're relying on				false

		311						LN		12		16		false		16   states that information which could lead to the production				false

		312						LN		12		17		false		17   of relevant information can also be requested.				false

		313						LN		12		18		false		18             And just that this -- even if the standard was				false

		314						LN		12		19		false		19   flat relevance, as they -- as PacifiCorp states, the --				false

		315						LN		12		20		false		20   the -- the data would be relevant given the fact that				false

		316						LN		12		21		false		21   PacifiCorp both was ordered to present alternatives in				false

		317						LN		12		22		false		22   this case, making alternative analyses relevant as stated				false

		318						LN		12		23		false		23   by the Commission, and also the general provisions of WAC				false

		319						LN		12		24		false		24   480-07-400 that state a party must be willing to provide				false

		320						LN		12		25		false		25   alternatives or provide reruns, recalculations of data				false

		321						PG		13		0		false		page 13				false

		322						LN		13		1		false		 1   pursuant to data requests.				false

		323						LN		13		2		false		 2             And that is all I have, and I'm available for				false

		324						LN		13		3		false		 3   questions as well.				false

		325						LN		13		4		false		 4             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you very				false

		326						LN		13		5		false		 5   much.				false

		327						LN		13		6		false		 6             I also see Mr. Zakai is on from the Energy				false

		328						LN		13		7		false		 7   Project.				false

		329						LN		13		8		false		 8             YOCHI ZAKAI:  Yes.  Good afternoon.  For the				false

		330						LN		13		9		false		 9   record, my name is Yochi Zakai, with Shute, Mahaly &				false

		331						LN		13		10		false		10   Weinberger representing the Energy Project today.				false

		332						LN		13		11		false		11             The Energy Project would like to support Public				false

		333						LN		13		12		false		12   Counsel's motion.  We think it is reasonable to request				false

		334						LN		13		13		false		13   that, if there is, you know, an analysis that has a				false

		335						LN		13		14		false		14   different allocation, that that be provided.				false

		336						LN		13		15		false		15             We understand the need to not reveal party				false

		337						LN		13		16		false		16   positions in settlement negotiation, and we don't see that				false

		338						LN		13		17		false		17   being requested here.  The fact that PacifiCorp has an				false

		339						LN		13		18		false		18   analysis and provides it does not mean that PacifiCorp is				false

		340						LN		13		19		false		19   stating that they support it.  It's just the production of				false

		341						LN		13		20		false		20   data.  And I think that's an important consideration for				false

		342						LN		13		21		false		21   the Commission and parties to make when reviewing the				false

		343						LN		13		22		false		22   data.				false

		344						LN		13		23		false		23             So thank you.				false

		345						LN		13		24		false		24             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.				false

		346						LN		13		25		false		25             At this point, I will ask if we have any other				false

		347						PG		14		0		false		page 14				false

		348						LN		14		1		false		 1   parties on the line who would like to weigh in.  I don't				false

		349						LN		14		2		false		 2   believe we have any others.				false

		350						LN		14		3		false		 3             Okay.  Hearing none, I do have a couple of				false

		351						LN		14		4		false		 4   questions.				false

		352						LN		14		5		false		 5             First, I guess, Mr. Lowney, for the relevance				false

		353						LN		14		6		false		 6   argument, do you have any response to the point made by				false

		354						LN		14		7		false		 7   Staff?				false

		355						LN		14		8		false		 8             ADAM LOWNEY:  Yes.  Thank you.				false

		356						LN		14		9		false		 9             To the extent that the motion was construed to				false

		357						LN		14		10		false		10   misstate that standard, that is an inadvertent error.				false

		358						LN		14		11		false		11             We stand by the position that the requested				false

		359						LN		14		12		false		12   analysis is not relevant because the 2026 protocol that				false

		360						LN		14		13		false		13   was proposed in this case was not built on or not crafted				false

		361						LN		14		14		false		14   in consideration of that -- the analysis that was				false

		362						LN		14		15		false		15   performed previously.				false

		363						LN		14		16		false		16             However, our primary objection rests on the fact				false

		364						LN		14		17		false		17   that these -- this analysis was provided pursuant to				false

		365						LN		14		18		false		18   settlement discussions.  And so, even if you were to				false

		366						LN		14		19		false		19   determine it was relevant, it's still not discoverable				false

		367						LN		14		20		false		20   under the Commission's alternative dispute resolution				false

		368						LN		14		21		false		21   rules.				false

		369						LN		14		22		false		22             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  And just to be				false

		370						LN		14		23		false		23   clear, the information that we're talking about deals with				false

		371						LN		14		24		false		24   alternative allocations; correct?				false

		372						LN		14		25		false		25             ADAM LOWNEY:  Yes.  At a high level, during the				false

		373						PG		15		0		false		page 15				false

		374						LN		15		1		false		 1   course of the Framework Issues Group, which is comprised				false

		375						LN		15		2		false		 2   of parties from all six of PacifiCorp states, various				false

		376						LN		15		3		false		 3   parties at various times would ask the company to perform				false

		377						LN		15		4		false		 4   essentially some version of scenario analysis that would				false

		378						LN		15		5		false		 5   explore the impacts of different allocation methodologies.				false

		379						LN		15		6		false		 6             Understanding that that analysis was being				false

		380						LN		15		7		false		 7   performed confidentially for purposes of those settlement				false

		381						LN		15		8		false		 8   discussions, PacifiCorp agreed to provide the analysis and				false

		382						LN		15		9		false		 9   to perform the analysis the parties had requested.  And				false

		383						LN		15		10		false		10   that is the analysis that is now being requested by Public				false

		384						LN		15		11		false		11   Counsel.				false

		385						LN		15		12		false		12             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the analyses				false

		386						LN		15		13		false		13   of alternatives that were prepared, were any of those				false

		387						LN		15		14		false		14   prepared by any party other than PacifiCorp?				false

		388						LN		15		15		false		15             ADAM LOWNEY:  Not to my knowledge.  And that				false

		389						LN		15		16		false		16   would not be information that we would be providing in				false

		390						LN		15		17		false		17   response to the discovery request.				false

		391						LN		15		18		false		18             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  And I don't				false

		392						LN		15		19		false		19   construe your argument to be that the NDA precludes				false

		393						LN		15		20		false		20   disclosure simply because PacifiCorp produced the data and				false

		394						LN		15		21		false		21   would be the party harmed.  But just so that I'm -- I'm				false

		395						LN		15		22		false		22   clear, PacifiCorp didn't execute an NDA as part of this				false

		396						LN		15		23		false		23   process.  Other parties executed the NDAs as part of this				false

		397						LN		15		24		false		24   process; is that correct?				false

		398						LN		15		25		false		25             ADAM LOWNEY:  That is correct.  Other parties				false

		399						PG		16		0		false		page 16				false

		400						LN		16		1		false		 1   executed the NDA in exchange for PacifiCorp performing the				false

		401						LN		16		2		false		 2   analysis.				false

		402						LN		16		3		false		 3             And so, implicit, if not explicit, is that				false

		403						LN		16		4		false		 4   PacifiCorp was only performing and providing the analysis				false

		404						LN		16		5		false		 5   subject to the understanding it was not going to be				false

		405						LN		16		6		false		 6   disclosed to any party that was not participating in the				false

		406						LN		16		7		false		 7   settlement discussions.				false

		407						LN		16		8		false		 8             THE COURT:  Okay.  Mr. Sykes, do you have any				false

		408						LN		16		9		false		 9   response to PacifiCorp's argument that this shouldn't be				false

		409						LN		16		10		false		10   nondiscoverable because these documents or this data was				false

		410						LN		16		11		false		11   produced as part of settlement discussions?				false

		411						LN		16		12		false		12             ROBERT SYKES:  Yeah.  And I want to specifically				false

		412						LN		16		13		false		13   address the point of the NDA.				false

		413						LN		16		14		false		14             Mr. Lowney is correct.  Parties asked for this				false

		414						LN		16		15		false		15   analysis in exchange and -- and PacifiCorp gave them an				false

		415						LN		16		16		false		16   NDA to sign so it wouldn't be disclosed.  That's fine.  If				false

		416						LN		16		17		false		17   I asked AWEC for this analysis, I shouldn't get it.  I'm				false

		417						LN		16		18		false		18   asking PacifiCorp for its own work product.				false

		418						LN		16		19		false		19             That was produced -- or that is not covered by				false

		419						LN		16		20		false		20   the NDA.  The NDA doesn't apply to PacifiCorp.  PacifiCorp				false

		420						LN		16		21		false		21   should rest assured that the Commission has its own				false

		421						LN		16		22		false		22   confidentiality rules.  It's not going to get outside of				false

		422						LN		16		23		false		23   the parties that have signed a confidentiality agreement				false

		423						LN		16		24		false		24   in this case.				false

		424						LN		16		25		false		25             And, you know, we're not asking for whether				false

		425						PG		17		0		false		page 17				false

		426						LN		17		1		false		 1   PacifiCorp thinks that alternative analysis was good or				false

		427						LN		17		2		false		 2   bad.  We're just asking for the data itself.  And				false

		428						LN		17		3		false		 3   PacifiCorp has admitted in its response and today in this				false

		429						LN		17		4		false		 4   hearing that it has the data.  And it is relevant because				false

		430						LN		17		5		false		 5   it is an alternative analysis to what has been given to				false

		431						LN		17		6		false		 6   us.				false

		432						LN		17		7		false		 7             Can I briefly talk about the relevance issue?				false

		433						LN		17		8		false		 8             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Sure.  Go ahead.				false

		434						LN		17		9		false		 9             ROBERT SYKES:  So this issue that it's not				false

		435						LN		17		10		false		10   relevant because the allocate -- the 2026 protocol is not				false

		436						LN		17		11		false		11   built on the analysis that was done as part of MSP, that				false

		437						LN		17		12		false		12   misconstrues the discovery request.				false

		438						LN		17		13		false		13             Our discovery request is not, "Give us the				false

		439						LN		17		14		false		14   analysis that this 2026 protocol was built on."  They have				false

		440						LN		17		15		false		15   to give that to us anyway.  It is, "Give us the analysis				false

		441						LN		17		16		false		16   of the alternatives so that we can judge it."  That is the				false

		442						LN		17		17		false		17   relevance of the discovery request.				false

		443						LN		17		18		false		18             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  On that point, quickly				false

		444						LN		17		19		false		19   before you get to any response on the issue of this being				false

		445						LN		17		20		false		20   produced as part of settlement discussions, I've reviewed				false

		446						LN		17		21		false		21   the motion and the responses as well as the attachments,				false

		447						LN		17		22		false		22   but I want to make sure I've read the data request too				false

		448						LN		17		23		false		23   correctly.				false

		449						LN		17		24		false		24             You were asking for any and all alternatives,				false

		450						LN		17		25		false		25   not just those that are specific to the multistate				false

		451						PG		18		0		false		page 18				false

		452						LN		18		1		false		 1   process; is that correct?				false

		453						LN		18		2		false		 2             ROBERT SYKES:  That is correct.				false

		454						LN		18		3		false		 3             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  And the response was,				false

		455						LN		18		4		false		 4   there are alternative analyses but those were part of the				false

		456						LN		18		5		false		 5   multistate process?				false

		457						LN		18		6		false		 6             ROBERT SYKES:  Correct.				false

		458						LN		18		7		false		 7             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Okay.  And, if				false

		459						LN		18		8		false		 8   you have any response to PacifiCorp's argument regarding				false

		460						LN		18		9		false		 9   these documents being produced as part of the settlement				false

		461						LN		18		10		false		10   process, I'd -- I'd appreciate hearing those.				false

		462						LN		18		11		false		11             ROBERT SYKES:  Sure.  Public Counsel disagrees				false

		463						LN		18		12		false		12   that the multistate process is a settlement negotiation.				false

		464						LN		18		13		false		13   It is a proof of stakeholders working out issues that --				false

		465						LN		18		14		false		14   that PacifiCorp's multistate system will generate as part				false

		466						LN		18		15		false		15   of being a six-state -- six-state utility.  That is a --				false

		467						LN		18		16		false		16   that is a business negotiation.  It is not a settlement				false

		468						LN		18		17		false		17   negotiation, certainly not a settlement negotiation that				false

		469						LN		18		18		false		18   would be subject to the WAC confidentiality provisions				false

		470						LN		18		19		false		19   which apply to Commission adjudication or ADR in the				false

		471						LN		18		20		false		20   context of Commission adjudication.				false

		472						LN		18		21		false		21             And then Mr. Lowney mentioned the concerns about				false

		473						LN		18		22		false		22   the integrity of the ongoing MSP.  My understanding -- and				false

		474						LN		18		23		false		23   he can correct me if I'm wrong -- is that PacifiCorp ended				false

		475						LN		18		24		false		24   the multistate process sometime last year so there is no				false

		476						LN		18		25		false		25   ongoing MSP to be concerned about.				false

		477						PG		19		0		false		page 19				false

		478						LN		19		1		false		 1             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.				false

		479						LN		19		2		false		 2             Mr. Lowney, in your response to Public Counsel's				false

		480						LN		19		3		false		 3   motion specifically looking at -- let me make sure I have				false

		481						LN		19		4		false		 4   the paragraph number correct -- paragraph 7 where you				false

		482						LN		19		5		false		 5   state, "The Commission supports parties in formal efforts				false

		483						LN		19		6		false		 6   to resolve disputes without the need for contested				false

		484						LN		19		7		false		 7   hearing, and its rules expressly state that information				false

		485						LN		19		8		false		 8   exchanged exclusively within the context of settlement				false

		486						LN		19		9		false		 9   negotiations will be treated as confidential and be -- and				false

		487						LN		19		10		false		10   will be privileged against disclosure to the extent				false

		488						LN		19		11		false		11   permitted by law," you cite to WAC 480-07-706(b).  And I				false

		489						LN		19		12		false		12   just want to hear your thoughts as to -- I have WAC				false

		490						LN		19		13		false		13   480-07-706(b) pulled up before me.  And looking at (a) and				false

		491						LN		19		14		false		14   (b), I'm just reconciling those.				false

		492						LN		19		15		false		15             Is it your position that that provision of the				false

		493						LN		19		16		false		16   rule applies to disclosure through discovery or disclosure				false

		494						LN		19		17		false		17   to the public as nonconfidential information?				false

		495						LN		19		18		false		18             ADAM LOWNEY:  I read the language of the rule as				false

		496						LN		19		19		false		19   its written, which is nondisclosure, which would be not				false

		497						LN		19		20		false		20   subject to discovery, even discovery that would be				false

		498						LN		19		21		false		21   covered, for example, by a protective order.				false

		499						LN		19		22		false		22             I think the language is -- is clear on its face.				false

		500						LN		19		23		false		23   It doesn't say it's subject to production with appropriate				false

		501						LN		19		24		false		24   protections.  It says it is not subject to disclosure.				false

		502						LN		19		25		false		25   And that, I think, is -- is literally the position that				false

		503						PG		20		0		false		page 20				false

		504						LN		20		1		false		 1   PacifiCorp has taken in this case which is, even if there				false

		505						LN		20		2		false		 2   had not been a nondisclosure agreement because the process				false

		506						LN		20		3		false		 3   that -- in which these analyses were produced was				false

		507						LN		20		4		false		 4   settlement negotiations, it's protected from disclosure				false

		508						LN		20		5		false		 5   under this rule.				false

		509						LN		20		6		false		 6             The NDA simply provided an additional and				false

		510						LN		20		7		false		 7   explicit layer of protection over and above that provided				false

		511						LN		20		8		false		 8   by -- by the Commission's rules.				false

		512						LN		20		9		false		 9             And I think it's important too to note that,				false

		513						LN		20		10		false		10   when you look at this rule, it doesn't say anything about				false

		514						LN		20		11		false		11   a party's internal position is -- is subject to				false

		515						LN		20		12		false		12   disclosure.  It's only that you are prevented from				false

		516						LN		20		13		false		13   disclosing other parties' positions, which is essentially				false

		517						LN		20		14		false		14   what Public Counsel is arguing with request to the NDA.				false

		518						LN		20		15		false		15             I think this language in the rule is unequivocal				false

		519						LN		20		16		false		16   that all information provided as part of a settlement				false

		520						LN		20		17		false		17   negotiation is protected from disclosure to parties that				false

		521						LN		20		18		false		18   didn't participate in that settlement negotiation, which,				false

		522						LN		20		19		false		19   in this case, is Public Counsel.				false

		523						LN		20		20		false		20             I would also add in response to Public Counsel's				false

		524						LN		20		21		false		21   comment about whether or not the MSP discussions are				false

		525						LN		20		22		false		22   ongoing.  I used MSP in a very generic way.				false

		526						LN		20		23		false		23             There are discussions ongoing around wildfire				false

		527						LN		20		24		false		24   issues, which is the specific topic that I brought up in				false

		528						LN		20		25		false		25   my comments only to emphasize the fact that, while cost				false

		529						PG		21		0		false		page 21				false

		530						LN		21		1		false		 1   allocation in a general sense has not continued,				false

		531						LN		21		2		false		 2   allocation of costs and implementation of wildfire				false

		532						LN		21		3		false		 3   mitigation efforts, as an example, are ongoing amongst all				false

		533						LN		21		4		false		 4   six states.				false

		534						LN		21		5		false		 5             So that was the point of my comment only to				false

		535						LN		21		6		false		 6   suggest that there are still discussions going on under				false

		536						LN		21		7		false		 7   the general penumbra of the MSP, even though the specific				false

		537						LN		21		8		false		 8   negotiations that were contemplated by the 2020 protocol				false

		538						LN		21		9		false		 9   have not -- or have ended.				false

		539						LN		21		10		false		10             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.				false

		540						LN		21		11		false		11             Judge Hughes, do you have any questions?				false

		541						LN		21		12		false		12             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  I do.				false

		542						LN		21		13		false		13             Mr. Lowney, can I point you to Subsection C of				false

		543						LN		21		14		false		14   sub -- of Section 6 that we've been just talking about?				false

		544						LN		21		15		false		15   It starts with, "Participants in a Commission-sanctioned				false

		545						LN		21		16		false		16   ADR process must periodically advise any nonparticipating				false

		546						LN		21		17		false		17   parties."				false

		547						LN		21		18		false		18             I guess my question is what is the				false

		548						LN		21		19		false		19   Commission-sanctioned ADR process at issue here?				false

		549						LN		21		20		false		20             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, as we outline in our -- in				false

		550						LN		21		21		false		21   our written filing, I think, if you read the -- that ADR				false

		551						LN		21		22		false		22   rule broadly, it says it governs any dispute -- any				false

		552						LN		21		23		false		23   mechanism to resolve disagreements in whole or in part,				false

		553						LN		21		24		false		24   and it includes voluntary negotiation which is what we				false

		554						LN		21		25		false		25   would describe as happening under the -- the MSP.				false

		555						PG		22		0		false		page 22				false

		556						LN		22		1		false		 1             And --				false

		557						LN		22		2		false		 2             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  -- doesn't answer my				false

		558						LN		22		3		false		 3   question.  What is the -- did the Commission sanction an				false

		559						LN		22		4		false		 4   ADR process here?				false

		560						LN		22		5		false		 5             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well --				false

		561						LN		22		6		false		 6             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  -- this very, very broadly				false

		562						LN		22		7		false		 7   to include any settlement negotiation in any -- anywhere?				false

		563						LN		22		8		false		 8             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I think --				false

		564						LN		22		9		false		 9             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  -- that seems --				false

		565						LN		22		10		false		10             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I think that, as we outlined				false

		566						LN		22		11		false		11   in our written filing, when -- and, if you look at the				false

		567						LN		22		12		false		12   Commission's order approving the 2020 protocol and the				false

		568						LN		22		13		false		13   WIJAM, it explained within that order the -- the same				false

		569						LN		22		14		false		14   framework that was outlined in the 2020 protocol itself,				false

		570						LN		22		15		false		15   which is that there are certain issues that were subject				false

		571						LN		22		16		false		16   to ongoing and continued negotiation and resolution.				false

		572						LN		22		17		false		17             Those are issues then that would eventually, as				false

		573						LN		22		18		false		18   the Commission's own order explains, would be brought to				false

		574						LN		22		19		false		19   the Commission for approval or rejection at some future				false

		575						LN		22		20		false		20   time.				false

		576						LN		22		21		false		21             And so, to the extent that these negotiations				false

		577						LN		22		22		false		22   were contemplated and specifically a part of the 2020				false

		578						LN		22		23		false		23   protocol that was approved by the Commission in 2020, that				false

		579						LN		22		24		false		24   would fall clearly under the "any mechanism to resolve a				false

		580						LN		22		25		false		25   dispute over which the Commission has jurisdiction,"				false

		581						PG		23		0		false		page 23				false

		582						LN		23		1		false		 1   because we were working with parties in Washington amongst				false

		583						LN		23		2		false		 2   the other states at a resolution that then would be				false

		584						LN		23		3		false		 3   presented eventually to the -- to the Washington				false

		585						LN		23		4		false		 4   Commission.				false

		586						LN		23		5		false		 5             Now, we never got a resolution, unfortunately,				false

		587						LN		23		6		false		 6   which is why we're where we're at today.  But that doesn't				false

		588						LN		23		7		false		 7   mean that the negotiation process that was contemplated by				false

		589						LN		23		8		false		 8   the 2020 protocol and by the Commission itself, when it				false

		590						LN		23		9		false		 9   approved that protocol, is not an ADR process within the				false

		591						LN		23		10		false		10   very broad language encompassed by the Commission's rules.				false

		592						LN		23		11		false		11             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Right.  If -- if this were				false

		593						LN		23		12		false		12   a Commission-sanctioned ADR process, did PacifiCorp at any				false

		594						LN		23		13		false		13   point update the Commission as Part C requires?				false

		595						LN		23		14		false		14             ADAM LOWNEY:  I can't speak to -- I don't know				false

		596						LN		23		15		false		15   if the -- if the company was providing regular updates to				false

		597						LN		23		16		false		16   the Commission or not --				false

		598						LN		23		17		false		17             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Because if it was under				false

		599						LN		23		18		false		18   the -- it would seem -- it would have to.				false

		600						LN		23		19		false		19             Who is that?				false

		601						LN		23		20		false		20             AJAY KUMAR:  Thank you, Judge Hughes.  And I				false

		602						LN		23		21		false		21   apologize for jumping in.  My same Ajay Kumar.  I'm chief				false

		603						LN		23		22		false		22   regulatory counsel for PacifiCorp.  And Mr. Lowney does				false

		604						LN		23		23		false		23   not have direct knowledge of this topic, but I could				false

		605						LN		23		24		false		24   answer your question, if that would be appropriate.				false

		606						LN		23		25		false		25             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Please do.				false

		607						PG		24		0		false		page 24				false

		608						LN		24		1		false		 1             AJAY KUMAR:  Yes.  The -- the company would				false

		609						LN		24		2		false		 2   provide regular meetings, and we would provide updates to				false

		610						LN		24		3		false		 3   Commissioners.  And there is a Commissioner forum process				false

		611						LN		24		4		false		 4   during which, at times, we would also provide updates to				false

		612						LN		24		5		false		 5   Commissioners from all six of our states, along with				false

		613						LN		24		6		false		 6   meeting individually with Commissioners.  And they would				false

		614						LN		24		7		false		 7   ask about what's going on in MSP, and we'd give them sort				false

		615						LN		24		8		false		 8   of a -- generalized updates.				false

		616						LN		24		9		false		 9             And then we have also to -- I think also you --				false

		617						LN		24		10		false		10   the rule touches on, you know, whether or not Public				false

		618						LN		24		11		false		11   Counsel is invited to participate.  And we did try				false

		619						LN		24		12		false		12   multiple times over the years to work with Public Counsel				false

		620						LN		24		13		false		13   to -- to allow them to -- to participate as well.				false

		621						LN		24		14		false		14             And so I think I can speak to those factual				false

		622						LN		24		15		false		15   issues.				false

		623						LN		24		16		false		16             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Very good.				false

		624						LN		24		17		false		17             Mr. Lowney, I'd like to turn to the Subsection B				false

		625						LN		24		18		false		18   where it says "to the extent permitted by law."				false

		626						LN		24		19		false		19             Looking at, I believe, paragraph 7 of your				false

		627						LN		24		20		false		20   brief, there's a very abrupt therefore the information				false

		628						LN		24		21		false		21   request by public counsel is (inaudible) disclosure.				false

		629						LN		24		22		false		22             I don't if you've ever practiced Public Records				false

		630						LN		24		23		false		23   Act in Washington state, but there is a distinction				false

		631						LN		24		24		false		24   between regulations and statutes in terms of, like, what				false

		632						LN		24		25		false		25   can we use to withhold disclosure.				false

		633						PG		25		0		false		page 25				false

		634						LN		25		1		false		 1             So I don't see an RCW cite.  So I guess I'm				false

		635						LN		25		2		false		 2   curious.  To the extent permitted by law, is there a				false

		636						LN		25		3		false		 3   specific law that you believe is applicable, like, for				false

		637						LN		25		4		false		 4   example, the commercial information statute?				false

		638						LN		25		5		false		 5             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I would say, generally, the				false

		639						LN		25		6		false		 6   information that was provided as part of the MSP				false

		640						LN		25		7		false		 7   discussions is -- would be proprietarily and commercially				false

		641						LN		25		8		false		 8   sensitive information.  It would be the same type of				false

		642						LN		25		9		false		 9   information that we would provide subject to a protective				false

		643						LN		25		10		false		10   order in a Commission regulation -- or excuse me -- a				false

		644						LN		25		11		false		11   Commission proceeding.				false

		645						LN		25		12		false		12             I would say, in our brief, we didn't address the				false

		646						LN		25		13		false		13   public records laws because nobody brought up the public				false

		647						LN		25		14		false		14   records laws as a basis for requiring disclosure of this				false

		648						LN		25		15		false		15   information.  But, if subsequent briefly would be helpful				false

		649						LN		25		16		false		16   on that issue, we're happy to provide it.				false

		650						LN		25		17		false		17             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  No.  I bring it up just				false

		651						LN		25		18		false		18   because, if I were to file a PRA right now of the UTC and				false

		652						LN		25		19		false		19   ask for this information, they would have to go through				false

		653						LN		25		20		false		20   that RCW analysis to determine if they could withhold it.				false

		654						LN		25		21		false		21   And I just -- that seems absent here.  You haven't cited				false

		655						LN		25		22		false		22   to a law of why this is commercial information.				false

		656						LN		25		23		false		23             It's an agreement amongst private parties and in				false

		657						LN		25		24		false		24   a very broad look at the WAC.  So you believe this is both				false

		658						LN		25		25		false		25   nondiscoverable and nonadmissible.  And could you explain				false

		659						PG		26		0		false		page 26				false

		660						LN		26		1		false		 1   the -- the difference in your thinking there between those				false

		661						LN		26		2		false		 2   two concepts?				false

		662						LN		26		3		false		 3             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I think -- I think you could				false

		663						LN		26		4		false		 4   actually just look at Subsection 6 of the ADR rule.  I				false

		664						LN		26		5		false		 5   mean, if you look Subsection A, it deals with				false

		665						LN		26		6		false		 6   admissibility.  And -- and that pretty clearly says				false

		666						LN		26		7		false		 7   statements made by parties are not admissible as evidence				false

		667						LN		26		8		false		 8   in formal proceedings.  But Subsection B, which is the one				false

		668						LN		26		9		false		 9   that we are relying on, is broader, and it says				false

		669						LN		26		10		false		10   information is not subject to disclosure.				false

		670						LN		26		11		false		11             And disclosure, in our minds, would be -- this				false

		671						LN		26		12		false		12   is a perfect example of a disclosure that's -- that's				false

		672						LN		26		13		false		13   prohibited by that rule.  A party that was not a part of				false

		673						LN		26		14		false		14   the settlement discussions ask specific or to provide				false

		674						LN		26		15		false		15   information that was provided within those settlement				false

		675						LN		26		16		false		16   discussions.  If we were to provide that information to				false

		676						LN		26		17		false		17   Public Counsel, that would be a very clear form of				false

		677						LN		26		18		false		18   disclosure which is prohibited by Subsection B.				false

		678						LN		26		19		false		19             Now, admissibility is a second issue.  If we are				false

		679						LN		26		20		false		20   ordered, for example, to provide this information to				false

		680						LN		26		21		false		21   Public Counsel, we may have a future conflict to the				false

		681						LN		26		22		false		22   extent they try to admit that evidence into record if that				false

		682						LN		26		23		false		23   evidence falls under Subsection 6(a).				false

		683						LN		26		24		false		24             We've not crossed that bridge at this point				false

		684						LN		26		25		false		25   because we're not at the place where anybody is moving to				false

		685						PG		27		0		false		page 27				false

		686						LN		27		1		false		 1   admit this -- this information into the record.  But that				false

		687						LN		27		2		false		 2   could be an issue that we face down the road in the event				false

		688						LN		27		3		false		 3   someone tries to do that.  And --				false

		689						LN		27		4		false		 4             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Okay.  Let me ask you,				false

		690						LN		27		5		false		 5   though.				false

		691						LN		27		6		false		 6             There's an assertion of confidentiality in our				false

		692						LN		27		7		false		 7   regulations in protective orders set out a process for				false

		693						LN		27		8		false		 8   asserting that.  I don't have an in camera copy of the				false

		694						LN		27		9		false		 9   records.  I don't know how many records exist.  How are we				false

		695						LN		27		10		false		10   to make a determination about the relevance or anything				false

		696						LN		27		11		false		11   without being able to see them?				false

		697						LN		27		12		false		12             Wouldn't the proper way of handling this have				false

		698						LN		27		13		false		13   been to provide the information and then move -- let's --				false

		699						LN		27		14		false		14   for a special order for protection?  Can you talk to me				false

		700						LN		27		15		false		15   about that?				false

		701						LN		27		16		false		16             Why -- why wasn't a motion to protect brought or				false

		702						LN		27		17		false		17   a confidentially asserted as the regulations require?				false

		703						LN		27		18		false		18             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, because our position is that				false

		704						LN		27		19		false		19   this information should not be disclosed.				false

		705						LN		27		20		false		20             And I will say, if we are required to disclose				false

		706						LN		27		21		false		21   it, we will disclosed it subject to a -- I assume we will				false

		707						LN		27		22		false		22   disclose it subject to the confidentiality protections in				false

		708						LN		27		23		false		23   the protective order that's -- that's already been issued				false

		709						LN		27		24		false		24   in this docket.				false

		710						LN		27		25		false		25             To the extent that a Commission wishes to have				false

		711						PG		28		0		false		page 28				false

		712						LN		28		1		false		 1   an in camera review, we're certainly willing to facilitate				false

		713						LN		28		2		false		 2   that.  But the basis of our objection was that this is				false

		714						LN		28		3		false		 3   just not discoverable.  It's -- the -- the regulation says				false

		715						LN		28		4		false		 4   that it shall not be disclosed.				false

		716						LN		28		5		false		 5             And so there was no reason to take that				false

		717						LN		28		6		false		 6   additional step of providing protections in the event it				false

		718						LN		28		7		false		 7   is disclosed, which is what I'm understanding your				false

		719						LN		28		8		false		 8   question to be, unless I'm misunderstanding.				false

		720						LN		28		9		false		 9             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  I guess, if we don't know				false

		721						LN		28		10		false		10   how many records there are -- if you don't identify				false

		722						LN		28		11		false		11   that -- I'm -- I'm struggling to see how -- how we're --				false

		723						LN		28		12		false		12   how you think this rule would play it.  It's kind of an				false

		724						LN		28		13		false		13   absurd result because there -- you would just not say --				false

		725						LN		28		14		false		14   you're not saying how many records exist.  You're not				false

		726						LN		28		15		false		15   really defining the scope of what you consider.  There's				false

		727						LN		28		16		false		16   really no way for me -- a neutral third party to judge				false

		728						LN		28		17		false		17   that.  So I just -- I guess I want to ask how many records				false

		729						LN		28		18		false		18   responsive to this request exist.				false

		730						LN		28		19		false		19             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I would perhaps ask				false

		731						LN		28		20		false		20   Mr. Kumar to weigh in on that one.  But, before we do				false

		732						LN		28		21		false		21   that, I would need to understand what you mean by a				false

		733						LN		28		22		false		22   record.  As a -- as a document or --				false

		734						LN		28		23		false		23             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Well, that's fair.  I --				false

		735						LN		28		24		false		24   having been trained under Foley and PRA, records generally				false

		736						LN		28		25		false		25   refer to any form of writing.  And, at least in the				false

		737						PG		29		0		false		page 29				false

		738						LN		29		1		false		 1   concept of delivery of process, which deals with the sort				false

		739						LN		29		2		false		 2   of give and take that we're talking about here, in fears				false

		740						LN		29		3		false		 3   of chilling discussion, there is within that doctrine a				false

		741						LN		29		4		false		 4   distinction between factual information within a record				false

		742						LN		29		5		false		 5   and delivered information with the record.				false

		743						LN		29		6		false		 6             So I'm -- I suppose, touching that doctrine and				false

		744						LN		29		7		false		 7   how I'm thinking about this -- because, if there are				false

		745						LN		29		8		false		 8   company position, why would reasonably segregating them				false

		746						LN		29		9		false		 9   not be an appropriate remedy for your problem?				false

		747						LN		29		10		false		10             Can you simply redact the confidential				false

		748						LN		29		11		false		11   information and provide the rest?  Why is that not -- why				false

		749						LN		29		12		false		12   wasn't that an option that was pursued here?				false

		750						LN		29		13		false		13             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I think that the -- the				false

		751						LN		29		14		false		14   problem is that there is no -- there is no redaction that				false

		752						LN		29		15		false		15   can occur because everything -- you know, if a party asked				false

		753						LN		29		16		false		16   you in settlement discussions to prepare a certain				false

		754						LN		29		17		false		17   analysis and provide that to the parties, we prepare that				false

		755						LN		29		18		false		18   analysis.  We typically convey that information through a				false

		756						LN		29		19		false		19   PowerPoint slide deck with supporting work papers.				false

		757						LN		29		20		false		20             Everything that's performed and provided to the				false

		758						LN		29		21		false		21   parties was done so only because we were engaged in				false

		759						LN		29		22		false		22   settlement discussions with those parties.  And so there				false

		760						LN		29		23		false		23   is no redaction that can take place that would redact only				false

		761						LN		29		24		false		24   some of the information because all of the information was				false

		762						LN		29		25		false		25   provided in accordance with the settlement discussions.				false

		763						PG		30		0		false		page 30				false

		764						LN		30		1		false		 1             Now, to your point, I understand there is a				false

		765						LN		30		2		false		 2   distinction between, you know, commercially sensitive or				false

		766						LN		30		3		false		 3   proprietary information or maybe information that conveys				false

		767						LN		30		4		false		 4   a particular party's position in a negotiation from				false

		768						LN		30		5		false		 5   simply, you know, factual information about what the				false

		769						LN		30		6		false		 6   weather with was like on a particular day.				false

		770						LN		30		7		false		 7             We're not taking about factual information like				false

		771						LN		30		8		false		 8   what the weather was like on a particular day.  None of				false

		772						LN		30		9		false		 9   this information was -- was generated in any form in the				false

		773						LN		30		10		false		10   normal course of PacifiCorp's business.  It was generated				false

		774						LN		30		11		false		11   specifically because a party asked for it as part of a				false

		775						LN		30		12		false		12   confidential settlement discussion.				false

		776						LN		30		13		false		13             And so redaction of certain documents just				false

		777						LN		30		14		false		14   doesn't -- we would redact everything because our position				false

		778						LN		30		15		false		15   is none of this information is -- is discoverable because				false

		779						LN		30		16		false		16   it was all provided through settlement negotiations.				false

		780						LN		30		17		false		17             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Well, I won't take this up				false

		781						LN		30		18		false		18   too much.  I do invite you to look up the delivery process				false

		782						LN		30		19		false		19   privilege and specifically the consultant corollary and				false

		783						LN		30		20		false		20   the considerations, which sound very similar to what				false

		784						LN		30		21		false		21   you're talking about, has been resolved by other courts				false

		785						LN		30		22		false		22   when examining sensitive information created in				false

		786						LN		30		23		false		23   negotiation and process.  It's slightly different because				false

		787						LN		30		24		false		24   it has to do with the executive's power.				false

		788						LN		30		25		false		25             But I'm just -- it's difficult to buy an entire				false

		789						PG		31		0		false		page 31				false

		790						LN		31		1		false		 1   document is confidential, including the headers and				false

		791						LN		31		2		false		 2   whatever crafts are in there.  But --				false

		792						LN		31		3		false		 3             AJAY KUMAR:  Judge Hughes, maybe I can speak to				false

		793						LN		31		4		false		 4   the factual -- the actual factual documents and provide,				false

		794						LN		31		5		false		 5   you know, overview of the exact information that you're				false

		795						LN		31		6		false		 6   looking at.				false

		796						LN		31		7		false		 7             So the -- and the way the MSP process worked was				false

		797						LN		31		8		false		 8   we -- essentially, we'd have meetings around two month --				false

		798						LN		31		9		false		 9   two months.  We would, you know, talk to the parties.				false

		799						LN		31		10		false		10   There'd be back-and-forth discussions.  We'd all get				false

		800						LN		31		11		false		11   together either virtually or, you know, in a certain				false

		801						LN		31		12		false		12   location.  And we'd have parties from all six of our				false

		802						LN		31		13		false		13   states there.  And there -- essentially, the company				false

		803						LN		31		14		false		14   would -- would have a slide deck that facilitates those				false

		804						LN		31		15		false		15   discussions.				false

		805						LN		31		16		false		16             Each slide deck, since the beginning of the				false

		806						LN		31		17		false		17   Framework Issues Work Group has been labeled as				false

		807						LN		31		18		false		18   confidential settlement discussions.  You can see that --				false

		808						LN		31		19		false		19   that disclaimer on every single slide deck we have had in				false

		809						LN		31		20		false		20   the entirety of the Framework Issues Work Group.				false

		810						LN		31		21		false		21             I believe there are maybe roughly half a -- a				false

		811						LN		31		22		false		22   dozen or maybe a dozen to 16 presentations that would				false

		812						LN		31		23		false		23   cover information that essentially parties requested or				false

		813						LN		31		24		false		24   that we provided in order to facilitate those settlement				false

		814						LN		31		25		false		25   discussions around our cost allocation protocol.				false
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		816						LN		32		1		false		 1             And those -- the -- any additional information				false

		817						LN		32		2		false		 2   would be work papers that support the -- the analysis that				false

		818						LN		32		3		false		 3   was provided in those slide decks.				false

		819						LN		32		4		false		 4             That's the scope of the information that we're				false

		820						LN		32		5		false		 5   discussing here.				false

		821						LN		32		6		false		 6             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Thank you.  That's very				false

		822						LN		32		7		false		 7   helpful.  I'm going to turn back to ALJ Thompson.				false

		823						LN		32		8		false		 8             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you.				false

		824						LN		32		9		false		 9             I think I just have one additional question that				false

		825						LN		32		10		false		10   that back and forth spurred.  And then I'll go ahead and				false

		826						LN		32		11		false		11   turn to -- to the remainder of the parties to ask if				false

		827						LN		32		12		false		12   anybody else has any additional comments that may have				false

		828						LN		32		13		false		13   come up during this conversation.				false

		829						LN		32		14		false		14             And I'm not sure whether this should be directed				false

		830						LN		32		15		false		15   at you, Mr. Lowney, or you, Mr. Kumar.  But question is				false

		831						LN		32		16		false		16   are the only alternative analyses that PacifiCorp has for				false

		832						LN		32		17		false		17   the allocation methodology proposed in this docket those				false

		833						LN		32		18		false		18   contained in the multistate process?  There weren't any				false

		834						LN		32		19		false		19   other done?				false

		835						LN		32		20		false		20             AJAY KUMAR:  I can probably speak to that most				false

		836						LN		32		21		false		21   easily.  And, yes, that's true.				false

		837						LN		32		22		false		22             The only -- the only alternative analyses that				false

		838						LN		32		23		false		23   we ever did was in discussions with parties in the MSP				false

		839						LN		32		24		false		24   process regarding, you know, possible limited realignment				false

		840						LN		32		25		false		25   or reassignment issues.				false
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		842						LN		33		1		false		 1             When it came time to develop the 2026 protocol,				false

		843						LN		33		2		false		 2   there wasn't any analysis because, to be honest, the				false

		844						LN		33		3		false		 3   changing nature of Washington laws and the Climate				false

		845						LN		33		4		false		 4   Commitment Act made it painfully obvious kind of to the				false

		846						LN		33		5		false		 5   company what the allocation methodology should be.  And so				false

		847						LN		33		6		false		 6   it was just a matter of putting together all the things				false

		848						LN		33		7		false		 7   that we required for the filing and that we've provided				false

		849						LN		33		8		false		 8   already to the parties in discovery.				false

		850						LN		33		9		false		 9             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.				false

		851						LN		33		10		false		10             I'll go ahead and -- and turn to Public Counsel				false

		852						LN		33		11		false		11   first and just ask if you have any additional comments or				false

		853						LN		33		12		false		12   responses that you'd like us to take under consideration.				false

		854						LN		33		13		false		13             ROBERT SYKES:  I have no other comments except				false

		855						LN		33		14		false		14   to say that it sounds like they did the math that we're				false

		856						LN		33		15		false		15   asking about.  They have work papers.				false

		857						LN		33		16		false		16             There's a substantial body of law that I did not				false

		858						LN		33		17		false		17   get into in this motion because it didn't seem relevant at				false

		859						LN		33		18		false		18   the time that simply stamping something as confidential				false

		860						LN		33		19		false		19   settlement negotiations doesn't make it so.				false

		861						LN		33		20		false		20             But, at a minimum, they've admitted again they				false

		862						LN		33		21		false		21   did -- they did an analysis.  They had work papers.  Other				false

		863						LN		33		22		false		22   parties should be entitled to see that as an alternative				false

		864						LN		33		23		false		23   to what they are proposing here today.				false

		865						LN		33		24		false		24             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you.				false

		866						LN		33		25		false		25             And, Ms. Madsen, do you have anything else to				false
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		868						LN		34		1		false		 1   add?				false

		869						LN		34		2		false		 2             MICHELLE MADSEN:  Thank you, Judge Thompson.				false

		870						LN		34		3		false		 3             I would just add that AWEC continues to believe				false

		871						LN		34		4		false		 4   that the data in question are facts that are separate from				false

		872						LN		34		5		false		 5   settlement positions and that they would not, in that				false

		873						LN		34		6		false		 6   light, violate the DNA.  It is facts that belong to				false

		874						LN		34		7		false		 7   PacifiCorp that were made at the -- that were then further				false

		875						LN		34		8		false		 8   analyzed at the request of parties.  But the facts				false

		876						LN		34		9		false		 9   themselves should not be subject to the NDA.				false

		877						LN		34		10		false		10             Thank you.				false

		878						LN		34		11		false		11             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Mr. O'Brien.				false

		879						LN		34		12		false		12             COLIN O'BRIEN:  I would just echo and Staff				false

		880						LN		34		13		false		13   would just echo the other parties' comments that allowing				false

		881						LN		34		14		false		14   PacifiCorp to withhold this information simply because				false

		882						LN		34		15		false		15   they happen to have been used for a work group when the				false

		883						LN		34		16		false		16   underlying facts are simply facts that the company has and				false

		884						LN		34		17		false		17   other parties do not just would contribute to further				false

		885						LN		34		18		false		18   widening of the already large information gap that				false

		886						LN		34		19		false		19   companies and noncompany parties face.  And we would				false

		887						LN		34		20		false		20   support this motion.				false

		888						LN		34		21		false		21             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.				false

		889						LN		34		22		false		22             And Mr. Zakai.				false

		890						LN		34		23		false		23             YOCHI ZAKAI:  Yes.  Thank you.				false

		891						LN		34		24		false		24             I would just add that there are different				false

		892						LN		34		25		false		25   allocations for different plans that are going to be				false
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		895						LN		35		2		false		 2   in various different, you know, venues in the past.  And,				false

		896						LN		35		3		false		 3   yeah, they're all, you know, relevant to how we move				false

		897						LN		35		4		false		 4   forward here and have all contributed to the overall base				false

		898						LN		35		5		false		 5   of knowledge that was used by PacifiCorp and other parties				false

		899						LN		35		6		false		 6   in developing the positions here.				false

		900						LN		35		7		false		 7             So thank you.				false

		901						LN		35		8		false		 8             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.				false

		902						LN		35		9		false		 9             So I think what I would like to do is, first, I				false

		903						LN		35		10		false		10   believe, as to the issue of relevance, that these				false

		904						LN		35		11		false		11   documents are relevant;				false

		905						LN		35		12		false		12             Second, to the issue of the nondisclosure				false

		906						LN		35		13		false		13   agreement, I don't believe that that precludes disclosure				false

		907						LN		35		14		false		14   in this instance, nor is it particularly applicable.				false

		908						LN		35		15		false		15             However -- and this is a question to the				false

		909						LN		35		16		false		16   parties.  What I'm thinking is asking for a little bit of				false

		910						LN		35		17		false		17   additional briefing on the applicability of WAC				false

		911						LN		35		18		false		18   480-07-706(b), particularly to the issues of whether or				false

		912						LN		35		19		false		19   not the multistate process is a settlement process and, if				false

		913						LN		35		20		false		20   so, whether 480-07-706(b) would preclude disclosure in				false

		914						LN		35		21		false		21   this instance.				false

		915						LN		35		22		false		22             If anybody wants to go there, I'd welcome				false

		916						LN		35		23		false		23   additional briefing as to why the protective order in this				false

		917						LN		35		24		false		24   case is not sufficient to adequately protect that				false

		918						LN		35		25		false		25   information and preserve the integrity of the process.				false

		919						PG		36		0		false		page 36				false

		920						LN		36		1		false		 1             I don't believe that we really need that much of				false

		921						LN		36		2		false		 2   additional briefing to make a decision on that point.  I'm				false

		922						LN		36		3		false		 3   thinking seven pages at -- you know, would probably be				false

		923						LN		36		4		false		 4   more than sufficient.				false

		924						LN		36		5		false		 5             If anybody has alternative thoughts, I'm open to				false

		925						LN		36		6		false		 6   hearing those.  And I'll ask here in just a moment for				false

		926						LN		36		7		false		 7   that.				false

		927						LN		36		8		false		 8             I do know that we have the 4th of July this				false

		928						LN		36		9		false		 9   week, and so I don't want to impose a deadline that is				false

		929						LN		36		10		false		10   overly burdensome.  But I also do not want to prejudice				false

		930						LN		36		11		false		11   any party in their ability to process this case because we				false

		931						LN		36		12		false		12   are moving on a relatively quick procedural schedule in				false

		932						LN		36		13		false		13   getting this information, if -- if we so determine that it				false

		933						LN		36		14		false		14   needs to be disclosed.				false

		934						LN		36		15		false		15             And so I'm looking at my calendar.  And I think,				false

		935						LN		36		16		false		16   taking into account that the 4th is Friday, perhaps				false

		936						LN		36		17		false		17   requiring that additional briefing be due by close of				false

		937						LN		36		18		false		18   business on Thursday, July 10th, seems like it may provide				false

		938						LN		36		19		false		19   enough time.				false

		939						LN		36		20		false		20             It's not required of the parties, but certainly				false

		940						LN		36		21		false		21   I would -- I would think that Public Counsel and the				false

		941						LN		36		22		false		22   company would want to submit briefing on the issue.  And				false

		942						LN		36		23		false		23   so that is the direction I'm leaning right now.  And we				false

		943						LN		36		24		false		24   would aim to get an order out expeditiously after that				false

		944						LN		36		25		false		25   point in time.				false
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		946						LN		37		1		false		 1             And so I'll just first turn to Public Counsel				false

		947						LN		37		2		false		 2   and ask if that proposal seems reasonable and if you have				false

		948						LN		37		3		false		 3   any request to amend that proposal.				false

		949						LN		37		4		false		 4             ROBERT SYKES:  That proposal sounds reasonable				false

		950						LN		37		5		false		 5   to me.  My one concern -- well, I have two concerns.				false

		951						LN		37		6		false		 6             My first concern is that I'm going to be on				false

		952						LN		37		7		false		 7   vacation next week so I won't be able to submit anything				false

		953						LN		37		8		false		 8   by the 10th.  So that -- Tuesday the 15th, if that's				false

		954						LN		37		9		false		 9   possible.  But my one concern there is that we're getting				false

		955						LN		37		10		false		10   awfully close to the August 6th response testimony				false

		956						LN		37		11		false		11   deadline.  So I just want to raise those two constraints				false

		957						LN		37		12		false		12   with you and defer to you, Judge -- Judge Thompson.				false

		958						LN		37		13		false		13             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.				false

		959						LN		37		14		false		14             Mr. Lowney.				false

		960						LN		37		15		false		15             ROBERT SYKES:  Briefly, Judge Thompson.  If the				false

		961						LN		37		16		false		16   10th is the date that is best, for the Commission, I'm				false

		962						LN		37		17		false		17   sure that I can have another attorney in my office help				false

		963						LN		37		18		false		18   out.				false

		964						LN		37		19		false		19             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.				false

		965						LN		37		20		false		20             ADAM LOWNEY:  Judge Thompson, That proposal will				false

		966						LN		37		21		false		21   work for PacifiCorp.				false

		967						LN		37		22		false		22             I would say I'm happy to also address the				false

		968						LN		37		23		false		23   question that you just posed now to the extent it wasn't				false

		969						LN		37		24		false		24   already addressed; and, that is, from our perspective, the				false
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		973						LN		38		2		false		 2   from disclosing publicly information that's provided to				false
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		977						LN		38		6		false		 6   party -- Public Counsel -- that was not a part of those				false
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		981						LN		38		10		false		10   that information publicly, the harm to the integrity of				false

		982						LN		38		11		false		11   the settlement process comes from disclosing settlement				false
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		984						LN		38		13		false		13   to a nonparticipant is subject to a protective order.				false
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		986						LN		38		15		false		15   and why we didn't provide this information subject to the				false

		987						LN		38		16		false		16   protective order, which would be obviously the normal				false

		988						LN		38		17		false		17   course of action for materials that are deemed				false

		989						LN		38		18		false		18   confidential or proprietary or commercially sensitive in				false
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		991						LN		38		20		false		20             That's it.  We're happy to brief this issue				false

		992						LN		38		21		false		21   additionally, if that would be helpful.  And your timeline				false

		993						LN		38		22		false		22   and proposed length of briefing works for the company.				false

		994						LN		38		23		false		23             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you very				false
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		998						LN		39		1		false		 1             MICHELLE MADSEN:  Thank you, Judge Thompson.				false

		999						LN		39		2		false		 2             AWEC supports briefing on this issue, and we can				false

		1000						LN		39		3		false		 3   make any timeline work should we submit a brief.				false

		1001						LN		39		4		false		 4             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.				false

		1002						LN		39		5		false		 5             Mr. O'Brien.				false

		1003						LN		39		6		false		 6             COLIN O'BRIEN:  The timeline works for Staff,				false

		1004						LN		39		7		false		 7   Your Honor.  And I don't believe we take any position as				false

		1005						LN		39		8		false		 8   far as the necessity of the briefing or not.				false

		1006						LN		39		9		false		 9             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.				false

		1007						LN		39		10		false		10             And, Mr. Zakai.				false

		1008						LN		39		11		false		11             YOCHI ZAKAI:  No position on those issues.				false
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		1010						LN		39		13		false		13             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Great.  Thank you.				false

		1011						LN		39		14		false		14             And, Mr. Sykes, when did you say rebuttal				false

		1012						LN		39		15		false		15   testimony is due?  I don't have the procedural schedule up				false

		1013						LN		39		16		false		16   in front of me.  Is it August 5th, you said?				false

		1014						LN		39		17		false		17             ROBERT SYKES:  I think it's August 6th.  I don't				false

		1015						LN		39		18		false		18   have the schedule up either, but August 6th is ringing in				false

		1016						LN		39		19		false		19   my head for some reason.  I will -- I am open to				false
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		1018						LN		39		21		false		21             YOCHI ZAKAI:  Yes.  I confirmed it's August 6th.				false

		1019						LN		39		22		false		22             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Do we have a				false
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		1025						LN		40		2		false		 2             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  I'm just thinking				false
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		1027						LN		40		4		false		 4             ROBERT SYKES:  Your Honor, it looks like there's				false

		1028						LN		40		5		false		 5   a second settlement conference September 15th.				false

		1029						LN		40		6		false		 6             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  September 15th?  Okay.				false

		1030						LN		40		7		false		 7             YOCHI ZAKAI:  My apologies.				false

		1031						LN		40		8		false		 8             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  The reason I'm asking				false

		1032						LN		40		9		false		 9   is -- is twofold:  One, in consideration of Mr. Sykes'				false
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		1034						LN		40		11		false		11   also ensuring that, should we decide this information is				false

		1035						LN		40		12		false		12   discoverable, that parties have adequate time to review				false

		1036						LN		40		13		false		13   that and prepare testimony accordingly.				false

		1037						LN		40		14		false		14             I do think we can go ahead and have additional				false

		1038						LN		40		15		false		15   briefing submitted by the 15th.  I think that should work.				false

		1039						LN		40		16		false		16   And Judge Hughes and I will -- let me just crosscheck my				false

		1040						LN		40		17		false		17   own calendar before I make any -- I think that we can				false

		1041						LN		40		18		false		18   reasonably make an effort to get an order out on the issue				false

		1042						LN		40		19		false		19   before the end of that week -- before the 18th, if -- if				false

		1043						LN		40		20		false		20   briefing comes in by the 15th.				false

		1044						LN		40		21		false		21             So I believe that should provide enough time for				false

		1045						LN		40		22		false		22   the parties to brief the issue, as requested, and then				false

		1046						LN		40		23		false		23   also for analysis of the information should it be				false

		1047						LN		40		24		false		24   discoverable before rebuttal testimony is due.				false

		1048						LN		40		25		false		25             Does that sound reasonable to you, Mr. Sykes?				false
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		1050						LN		41		1		false		 1             ROBERT SYKES:  Yes, Your Honor.				false

		1051						LN		41		2		false		 2             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Should --				false

		1052						LN		41		3		false		 3             ADAM LOWNEY:  Judge Thompson --				false

		1053						LN		41		4		false		 4             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Yes.				false

		1054						LN		41		5		false		 5             ADAM LOWNEY:  -- if I may, just as you consider				false

		1055						LN		41		6		false		 6   that timing, I think we also need to think about, if the				false

		1056						LN		41		7		false		 7   Commission does determine that this information is				false

		1057						LN		41		8		false		 8   discoverable, that it will require time for the company to				false

		1058						LN		41		9		false		 9   compile it and distribute it to the parties.				false

		1059						LN		41		10		false		10             So, if -- if I was tracking your timeline, if				false

		1060						LN		41		11		false		11   you issued an order on the 18th or by the 18th, we would				false

		1061						LN		41		12		false		12   need at least a week to prepare and compile the				false

		1062						LN		41		13		false		13   information and then provide the appropriate				false

		1063						LN		41		14		false		14   confidentiality protections and distribute it to the				false

		1064						LN		41		15		false		15   parties.				false

		1065						LN		41		16		false		16             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  If you haven't compiled the				false

		1066						LN		41		17		false		17   information, then how can you assert that all of it is				false

		1067						LN		41		18		false		18   privileged?				false

		1068						LN		41		19		false		19             AJAY KUMAR:  Well, so I want to step in.  We're				false

		1069						LN		41		20		false		20   in the process of compiling the information.  And we could				false

		1070						LN		41		21		false		21   probably -- and I apologize, Mr. Lowney.  I think, if we				false

		1071						LN		41		22		false		22   were expecting a decision today, and it would have taken				false

		1072						LN		41		23		false		23   us, like, an additional week to make sure we got				false

		1073						LN		41		24		false		24   everything gathered.  But I think we can -- we are in the				false

		1074						LN		41		25		false		25   process of compiling that.  We can probably get it pretty				false

		1075						PG		42		0		false		page 42				false

		1076						LN		42		1		false		 1   quickly after the 18th.				false

		1077						LN		42		2		false		 2             And I can say that the reason we can assert that				false

		1078						LN		42		3		false		 3   all of this is privileged is because we have -- we have				false

		1079						LN		42		4		false		 4   the -- the process isn't so much going through and				false

		1080						LN		42		5		false		 5   asserting what is privileged.  It's going through -- we				false

		1081						LN		42		6		false		 6   have, you know, approximately, you know, six slide decks				false

		1082						LN		42		7		false		 7   per year over five years to review.  And so it's just				false

		1083						LN		42		8		false		 8   going through and identifying -- because not -- in not all				false

		1084						LN		42		9		false		 9   of the meetings did we discuss realignment and				false

		1085						LN		42		10		false		10   reallocation.  And so it's just going through and making				false

		1086						LN		42		11		false		11   sure that the ones -- we are providing those specific				false

		1087						LN		42		12		false		12   subset of slide decks that discuss reassignment or				false

		1088						LN		42		13		false		13   reallocation issues.				false

		1089						LN		42		14		false		14             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  So it sounds like				false

		1090						LN		42		15		false		15   the information could reasonably be compiled by the 18th.				false

		1091						LN		42		16		false		16   Okay.				false

		1092						LN		42		17		false		17             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Does that -- does that				false

		1093						LN		42		18		false		18   include any potential redactions if you were to submit				false

		1094						LN		42		19		false		19   both a redacted/unredacted copies of these?				false

		1095						LN		42		20		false		20             AJAY KUMAR:  You know, we have to go through and				false

		1096						LN		42		21		false		21   identify exactly how we would redact them because I think				false

		1097						LN		42		22		false		22   it's -- you know, going back to Mr. Lowney's point				false

		1098						LN		42		23		false		23   earlier, this was all labeled, you know, confidential				false

		1099						LN		42		24		false		24   settlement discussions.  And so we'd have to sort of				false

		1100						LN		42		25		false		25   figure out if there's an easy way to redact them first.				false

		1101						PG		43		0		false		page 43				false

		1102						LN		43		1		false		 1             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  No.  That's fair.  And I				false

		1103						LN		43		2		false		 2   would, again, consider that, because UTC has it and anyone				false

		1104						LN		43		3		false		 3   could make a public records request, so the analysis in				false

		1105						LN		43		4		false		 4   RCW 80.04.095 may be helpful.  Because not everything is a				false

		1106						LN		43		5		false		 5   trade secret or will lead to the financial loss even if,				false

		1107						LN		43		6		false		 6   you know, at the time you -- it was very special.  Because				false

		1108						LN		43		7		false		 7   it -- it has to actually create an unfair advantage to be				false

		1109						LN		43		8		false		 8   able to be withheld.				false

		1110						LN		43		9		false		 9             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  I think we --				false

		1111						LN		43		10		false		10   we've got what we need today.				false

		1112						LN		43		11		false		11             I would ask that the parties who would like to				false

		1113						LN		43		12		false		12   submit briefing on the issue of the applicability of WAC				false
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		1115						LN		43		14		false		14   include whether or not the multistate process is a				false

		1116						LN		43		15		false		15   settlement discussion.				false

		1117						LN		43		16		false		16             I'd ask that the parties keep the briefs to a				false

		1118						LN		43		17		false		17   maximum of seven pages in length and that those be filed				false

		1119						LN		43		18		false		18   with the Commission before the close of business on				false

		1120						LN		43		19		false		19   July 15th.				false

		1121						LN		43		20		false		20             In the interim, I would ask that PacifiCorp				false

		1122						LN		43		21		false		21   continue to compile the information so that, should we				false
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 1             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Welcome, everybody.



 2   Good afternoon.  It is 1:30 p.m. on July 2, 2025.



 3             We are here this afternoon for a hearing to



 4   resolve a motion to compel filed by Public Counsel in



 5   Docket UE-250224, which is captioned Washington Utilities



 6   and Transportation Commission v. PacifiCorp, doing



 7   business as Pacific Power and Light Company.



 8             I think, to make the most effective use of our



 9   time this morning -- and, actually, before I get there, my



10   name is Connor Thompson.  I'm an Administrative Law Judge



11   with the Commission.  Here with me today is judge Bijun



12   Hughes, who is also an Administrative Law Judge with the



13   Commission.



14             To make the most effective use of our time



15   today, I think the way we ought to go ahead and handle the



16   issues is to go ahead and allow the parties to have three



17   to five minutes to give an overview of their position, if



18   they have any, and provide any updates or responses to the



19   positions which have been filed in responses since Public



20   Counsel's initial motion.



21             And I think, Public Counsel, you filed the



22   motion; so, if you want to go ahead and begin or if you



23   have an alternative proposal for how to handle today's



24   hearing, I'm open to hearing that as well.



25             ROBERT SYKES:  No.  I'll go ahead.  Thank you,
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 1   Your Honor.



 2             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you.



 3             ROBERT SYKES:  So you've had a chance to read



 4   the pleadings, I'm certain.  The issue here is actually



 5   very simple.



 6             We have asked for an analysis of alternatives to



 7   the allocations -- to some of the allocations proposed by



 8   PacifiCorp in the 2016 protocol, specifically the



 9   allocation of Chehalis, the removal of Hermiston, and the



10   allocation of Rolling Hills.



11             PacifiCorp, in its discovery responses, has



12   admitted it has performed an analysis of those allocate --



13   alternative analysis of those allocations, and it has



14   refused to give it to us.



15             It has hid behind the nondisclosure agreement as



16   part of the multistate process and as part of the



17   Framework Issues Working Group contending it as a



18   settlement negotiation.



19             If we -- setting aside our disagreement about



20   whether this is a settlement negotiation, we are not



21   asking for any party positions.  We're not asking for any



22   negotiation material.  We are asking for data -- the



23   analysis.  And PacifiCorp should provide it.  Or, if they



24   can't provide -- provide it, then I don't know why they're



25   before the Commission in the first place if they're
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 1   willing to actually give us the analysis that they did.



 2             So we have asked for an analysis.  PacifiCorp



 3   has it.  If they don't have it, they should tell us.  And,



 4   if they have it, they should give it to Public Counsel and



 5   the other parties so they can actually review alternatives



 6   that PacifiCorp considered.



 7             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.



 8             And I forgot to do this at the outset.  Because



 9   we've already started, I'll just ask each party to enter



10   an appearance when it's your turn to discuss the issues.



11             And so my apologies.  Mr. Sykes, if you could



12   just, for the record, let everybody know who you are and



13   who you represent.



14             ROBERT SYKES:  Yes.  I'm Rob Sykes, and I'm with



15   Public Counsel.



16             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.



17             And for PacifiCorp.



18             ADAM LOWNEY:  Yes.  Judge Thompson, can you hear



19   me?



20             THE COURT:  I can.



21             ADAM LOWNEY:  All right.  Thank you.  And good



22   afternoon.



23             For the record, my name is Adam Lowney, and I'm



24   appearing today on behalf of PacifiCorp.



25             Public Counsel asks the Commission to order
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 1   PacifiCorp to divulge analysis that was prepared



 2   specifically and exclusively for confidential settlement



 3   discussions that were conducted as part of PacifiCorp's



 4   ongoing multistate process for MSP.



 5             The MSP is a collaborative effort amongst



 6   stakeholders in all six PacifiCorp states designed to



 7   resolve cost allocation issues.



 8             Granting Public Counsel's motion is directly



 9   counter to the Commission's own rules, would upend ongoing



10   MSP negotiations, and jeopardize future the multistate



11   collaboration by creating a strong disincentive for frank



12   and open settlement negotiations.



13             By way of background, when the Commission



14   approved PacifiCorp's current cost-allocation methodology,



15   the Washington interjurisdictional allocation methodology



16   or the WIJAM, the Commission recognized that the WIJAM did



17   not definitively resolve every issue in dispute among



18   PacifiCorp and stakeholders across its six-state service



19   area.



20             The Commission acknowledged that the additional



21   issues requiring negotiation and resolution would be



22   addressed through what the allocation protocol referred to



23   as the Framework Issues Group.



24             Since 2020, PacifiCorp and stakeholders from all



25   six states, including Washington, have diligently and in
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 1   good faith followed the Commission's direction and engaged



 2   in settlement negotiations through that work group.



 3             During the course of those settlement



 4   negotiations, PacifiCorp was asked by parties to prepare



 5   certain analyses.  PacifiCorp agreed to do so subject to a



 6   nondisclosure agreement and the clear and documented



 7   understanding that the requested analysis was being



 8   prepared exclusively for the confidential settlement



 9   discussions and could not be disclosure outside of those



10   negotiations.  It is this analysis that Public Counsel now



11   seeks.



12             Had PacifiCorp known that the analysis would



13   later be subject to discovery by parties like Public



14   Counsel that chose not to participate in the settlement



15   discussions, PacifiCorp would have declined to perform the



16   requested analysis.



17             In other words, and for the sake of clarity, the



18   requested analysis is not information that PacifiCorp had



19   on hand before the Framework Issues Group or analysis



20   PacifiCorp would have produced in the normal course of



21   business.  The analysis was created and the information



22   was provided only because it was requested by parties to



23   the confidential settlement discussions.



24             The Commission's own rules are unequivocal.



25   Settlement materials are confidential and not subject to
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 1   disclosure.  And the policy underlying the Commission's



 2   rules is clear.  The Commission encourages settlement and



 3   collaboration.  And, if materials provided during



 4   settlement discussion are later subject to discovery from



 5   nonparticipants, it will stifle the free flow of



 6   information that is critical to successful settlement



 7   negotiations.



 8             The integrity of the multistate process requires



 9   confidence among participants that what they provide as



10   they work with towards settlement will be protected from



11   disclosure.



12             It is also critical to understand that



13   PacifiCorp's concerns here are not simply focused on past



14   MSP settlement discussions.  The company continues to



15   engage stakeholders from all states, including Washington,



16   in ongoing MSP settlement discussions involving critical



17   issues like wildfires.



18             Like the materials Public Counsel seeks here,



19   those wildfire settlement discussions have utilized the



20   same tools to protect the confidentiality of materials



21   provided by PacifiCorp.



22             If this Commission determines that materials



23   provided confidentially in the context of MSP settlement



24   negotiations are now discoverable, then PacifiCorp will be



25   required to reconsider its ongoing participation in the
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 1   MSP settlement discussions and, frankly, all settlement



 2   discussions.  The chilling effect of a ruling in favor of



 3   Public Counsel will be immediate and far reaching.



 4             For these reasons, and for those additional



 5   reasons outlined in our written response, PacifiCorp



 6   requests that the Commission deny Public Counsel's motion.



 7             Thank you.  And I'm available to answer



 8   questions you might have.



 9             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  I --



10   I do have some questions.



11             But, first, I'm going to go ahead and ask AWEC,



12   if you would like to turn on your camera.  Thank you.  And



13   I know that you filed a response as well.  And so, if you



14   wanted to go ahead, for the record, and make an appearance



15   and then go ahead and state your position.



16             MICHELLE MADSEN:  Thank you, Judge Thompson and



17   Judge Hughes.  My name is Michelle Madison with Davison



18   Van Cleve on behalf of AWEC.  Ms. Sommer Moser is also on



19   the line.



20             As noted, we filed comments this previous Monday



21   in response to the Public Counsel's motion to compel.  We



22   would just like to affirm those comments and support



23   Public Counsel's request -- respectful request to grant



24   its motion to compel.



25             We're open for questions if anyone has them.
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 1             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.



 2             I will also ask Staff if you would like to make



 3   an appearance and then please let us know if you have any



 4   comments or anything to weigh in here.



 5             COLIN O'BRIEN:  Yeah.  Good afternoon, Your



 6   Honor.  Colin O'Brien representing Staff.



 7             Just briefly, Staff would support Public



 8   Counsel's motion.  The -- and for much the same reasons



 9   that have already been stated, not to be too duplicative.



10             I would just have a brief add that the relevance



11   standard that Pac cites for their response to Public



12   Counsel's motion is not actually accurate or at least



13   misstates part of the standard in that Pac is claiming



14   that only relevant information can be requested.  But, in



15   reality, the rest of the sentence they're relying on



16   states that information which could lead to the production



17   of relevant information can also be requested.



18             And just that this -- even if the standard was



19   flat relevance, as they -- as PacifiCorp states, the --



20   the -- the data would be relevant given the fact that



21   PacifiCorp both was ordered to present alternatives in



22   this case, making alternative analyses relevant as stated



23   by the Commission, and also the general provisions of WAC



24   480-07-400 that state a party must be willing to provide



25   alternatives or provide reruns, recalculations of data
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 1   pursuant to data requests.



 2             And that is all I have, and I'm available for



 3   questions as well.



 4             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you very



 5   much.



 6             I also see Mr. Zakai is on from the Energy



 7   Project.



 8             YOCHI ZAKAI:  Yes.  Good afternoon.  For the



 9   record, my name is Yochi Zakai, with Shute, Mahaly &



10   Weinberger representing the Energy Project today.



11             The Energy Project would like to support Public



12   Counsel's motion.  We think it is reasonable to request



13   that, if there is, you know, an analysis that has a



14   different allocation, that that be provided.



15             We understand the need to not reveal party



16   positions in settlement negotiation, and we don't see that



17   being requested here.  The fact that PacifiCorp has an



18   analysis and provides it does not mean that PacifiCorp is



19   stating that they support it.  It's just the production of



20   data.  And I think that's an important consideration for



21   the Commission and parties to make when reviewing the



22   data.



23             So thank you.



24             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.



25             At this point, I will ask if we have any other
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 1   parties on the line who would like to weigh in.  I don't



 2   believe we have any others.



 3             Okay.  Hearing none, I do have a couple of



 4   questions.



 5             First, I guess, Mr. Lowney, for the relevance



 6   argument, do you have any response to the point made by



 7   Staff?



 8             ADAM LOWNEY:  Yes.  Thank you.



 9             To the extent that the motion was construed to



10   misstate that standard, that is an inadvertent error.



11             We stand by the position that the requested



12   analysis is not relevant because the 2026 protocol that



13   was proposed in this case was not built on or not crafted



14   in consideration of that -- the analysis that was



15   performed previously.



16             However, our primary objection rests on the fact



17   that these -- this analysis was provided pursuant to



18   settlement discussions.  And so, even if you were to



19   determine it was relevant, it's still not discoverable



20   under the Commission's alternative dispute resolution



21   rules.



22             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  And just to be



23   clear, the information that we're talking about deals with



24   alternative allocations; correct?



25             ADAM LOWNEY:  Yes.  At a high level, during the
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 1   course of the Framework Issues Group, which is comprised



 2   of parties from all six of PacifiCorp states, various



 3   parties at various times would ask the company to perform



 4   essentially some version of scenario analysis that would



 5   explore the impacts of different allocation methodologies.



 6             Understanding that that analysis was being



 7   performed confidentially for purposes of those settlement



 8   discussions, PacifiCorp agreed to provide the analysis and



 9   to perform the analysis the parties had requested.  And



10   that is the analysis that is now being requested by Public



11   Counsel.



12             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the analyses



13   of alternatives that were prepared, were any of those



14   prepared by any party other than PacifiCorp?



15             ADAM LOWNEY:  Not to my knowledge.  And that



16   would not be information that we would be providing in



17   response to the discovery request.



18             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  And I don't



19   construe your argument to be that the NDA precludes



20   disclosure simply because PacifiCorp produced the data and



21   would be the party harmed.  But just so that I'm -- I'm



22   clear, PacifiCorp didn't execute an NDA as part of this



23   process.  Other parties executed the NDAs as part of this



24   process; is that correct?



25             ADAM LOWNEY:  That is correct.  Other parties
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 1   executed the NDA in exchange for PacifiCorp performing the



 2   analysis.



 3             And so, implicit, if not explicit, is that



 4   PacifiCorp was only performing and providing the analysis



 5   subject to the understanding it was not going to be



 6   disclosed to any party that was not participating in the



 7   settlement discussions.



 8             THE COURT:  Okay.  Mr. Sykes, do you have any



 9   response to PacifiCorp's argument that this shouldn't be



10   nondiscoverable because these documents or this data was



11   produced as part of settlement discussions?



12             ROBERT SYKES:  Yeah.  And I want to specifically



13   address the point of the NDA.



14             Mr. Lowney is correct.  Parties asked for this



15   analysis in exchange and -- and PacifiCorp gave them an



16   NDA to sign so it wouldn't be disclosed.  That's fine.  If



17   I asked AWEC for this analysis, I shouldn't get it.  I'm



18   asking PacifiCorp for its own work product.



19             That was produced -- or that is not covered by



20   the NDA.  The NDA doesn't apply to PacifiCorp.  PacifiCorp



21   should rest assured that the Commission has its own



22   confidentiality rules.  It's not going to get outside of



23   the parties that have signed a confidentiality agreement



24   in this case.



25             And, you know, we're not asking for whether
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 1   PacifiCorp thinks that alternative analysis was good or



 2   bad.  We're just asking for the data itself.  And



 3   PacifiCorp has admitted in its response and today in this



 4   hearing that it has the data.  And it is relevant because



 5   it is an alternative analysis to what has been given to



 6   us.



 7             Can I briefly talk about the relevance issue?



 8             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Sure.  Go ahead.



 9             ROBERT SYKES:  So this issue that it's not



10   relevant because the allocate -- the 2026 protocol is not



11   built on the analysis that was done as part of MSP, that



12   misconstrues the discovery request.



13             Our discovery request is not, "Give us the



14   analysis that this 2026 protocol was built on."  They have



15   to give that to us anyway.  It is, "Give us the analysis



16   of the alternatives so that we can judge it."  That is the



17   relevance of the discovery request.



18             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  On that point, quickly



19   before you get to any response on the issue of this being



20   produced as part of settlement discussions, I've reviewed



21   the motion and the responses as well as the attachments,



22   but I want to make sure I've read the data request too



23   correctly.



24             You were asking for any and all alternatives,



25   not just those that are specific to the multistate
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 1   process; is that correct?



 2             ROBERT SYKES:  That is correct.



 3             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  And the response was,



 4   there are alternative analyses but those were part of the



 5   multistate process?



 6             ROBERT SYKES:  Correct.



 7             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Okay.  And, if



 8   you have any response to PacifiCorp's argument regarding



 9   these documents being produced as part of the settlement



10   process, I'd -- I'd appreciate hearing those.



11             ROBERT SYKES:  Sure.  Public Counsel disagrees



12   that the multistate process is a settlement negotiation.



13   It is a proof of stakeholders working out issues that --



14   that PacifiCorp's multistate system will generate as part



15   of being a six-state -- six-state utility.  That is a --



16   that is a business negotiation.  It is not a settlement



17   negotiation, certainly not a settlement negotiation that



18   would be subject to the WAC confidentiality provisions



19   which apply to Commission adjudication or ADR in the



20   context of Commission adjudication.



21             And then Mr. Lowney mentioned the concerns about



22   the integrity of the ongoing MSP.  My understanding -- and



23   he can correct me if I'm wrong -- is that PacifiCorp ended



24   the multistate process sometime last year so there is no



25   ongoing MSP to be concerned about.
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 1             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.



 2             Mr. Lowney, in your response to Public Counsel's



 3   motion specifically looking at -- let me make sure I have



 4   the paragraph number correct -- paragraph 7 where you



 5   state, "The Commission supports parties in formal efforts



 6   to resolve disputes without the need for contested



 7   hearing, and its rules expressly state that information



 8   exchanged exclusively within the context of settlement



 9   negotiations will be treated as confidential and be -- and



10   will be privileged against disclosure to the extent



11   permitted by law," you cite to WAC 480-07-706(b).  And I



12   just want to hear your thoughts as to -- I have WAC



13   480-07-706(b) pulled up before me.  And looking at (a) and



14   (b), I'm just reconciling those.



15             Is it your position that that provision of the



16   rule applies to disclosure through discovery or disclosure



17   to the public as nonconfidential information?



18             ADAM LOWNEY:  I read the language of the rule as



19   its written, which is nondisclosure, which would be not



20   subject to discovery, even discovery that would be



21   covered, for example, by a protective order.



22             I think the language is -- is clear on its face.



23   It doesn't say it's subject to production with appropriate



24   protections.  It says it is not subject to disclosure.



25   And that, I think, is -- is literally the position that
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 1   PacifiCorp has taken in this case which is, even if there



 2   had not been a nondisclosure agreement because the process



 3   that -- in which these analyses were produced was



 4   settlement negotiations, it's protected from disclosure



 5   under this rule.



 6             The NDA simply provided an additional and



 7   explicit layer of protection over and above that provided



 8   by -- by the Commission's rules.



 9             And I think it's important too to note that,



10   when you look at this rule, it doesn't say anything about



11   a party's internal position is -- is subject to



12   disclosure.  It's only that you are prevented from



13   disclosing other parties' positions, which is essentially



14   what Public Counsel is arguing with request to the NDA.



15             I think this language in the rule is unequivocal



16   that all information provided as part of a settlement



17   negotiation is protected from disclosure to parties that



18   didn't participate in that settlement negotiation, which,



19   in this case, is Public Counsel.



20             I would also add in response to Public Counsel's



21   comment about whether or not the MSP discussions are



22   ongoing.  I used MSP in a very generic way.



23             There are discussions ongoing around wildfire



24   issues, which is the specific topic that I brought up in



25   my comments only to emphasize the fact that, while cost
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 1   allocation in a general sense has not continued,



 2   allocation of costs and implementation of wildfire



 3   mitigation efforts, as an example, are ongoing amongst all



 4   six states.



 5             So that was the point of my comment only to



 6   suggest that there are still discussions going on under



 7   the general penumbra of the MSP, even though the specific



 8   negotiations that were contemplated by the 2020 protocol



 9   have not -- or have ended.



10             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.



11             Judge Hughes, do you have any questions?



12             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  I do.



13             Mr. Lowney, can I point you to Subsection C of



14   sub -- of Section 6 that we've been just talking about?



15   It starts with, "Participants in a Commission-sanctioned



16   ADR process must periodically advise any nonparticipating



17   parties."



18             I guess my question is what is the



19   Commission-sanctioned ADR process at issue here?



20             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, as we outline in our -- in



21   our written filing, I think, if you read the -- that ADR



22   rule broadly, it says it governs any dispute -- any



23   mechanism to resolve disagreements in whole or in part,



24   and it includes voluntary negotiation which is what we



25   would describe as happening under the -- the MSP.
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 1             And --



 2             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  -- doesn't answer my



 3   question.  What is the -- did the Commission sanction an



 4   ADR process here?



 5             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well --



 6             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  -- this very, very broadly



 7   to include any settlement negotiation in any -- anywhere?



 8             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I think --



 9             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  -- that seems --



10             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I think that, as we outlined



11   in our written filing, when -- and, if you look at the



12   Commission's order approving the 2020 protocol and the



13   WIJAM, it explained within that order the -- the same



14   framework that was outlined in the 2020 protocol itself,



15   which is that there are certain issues that were subject



16   to ongoing and continued negotiation and resolution.



17             Those are issues then that would eventually, as



18   the Commission's own order explains, would be brought to



19   the Commission for approval or rejection at some future



20   time.



21             And so, to the extent that these negotiations



22   were contemplated and specifically a part of the 2020



23   protocol that was approved by the Commission in 2020, that



24   would fall clearly under the "any mechanism to resolve a



25   dispute over which the Commission has jurisdiction,"
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 1   because we were working with parties in Washington amongst



 2   the other states at a resolution that then would be



 3   presented eventually to the -- to the Washington



 4   Commission.



 5             Now, we never got a resolution, unfortunately,



 6   which is why we're where we're at today.  But that doesn't



 7   mean that the negotiation process that was contemplated by



 8   the 2020 protocol and by the Commission itself, when it



 9   approved that protocol, is not an ADR process within the



10   very broad language encompassed by the Commission's rules.



11             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Right.  If -- if this were



12   a Commission-sanctioned ADR process, did PacifiCorp at any



13   point update the Commission as Part C requires?



14             ADAM LOWNEY:  I can't speak to -- I don't know



15   if the -- if the company was providing regular updates to



16   the Commission or not --



17             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Because if it was under



18   the -- it would seem -- it would have to.



19             Who is that?



20             AJAY KUMAR:  Thank you, Judge Hughes.  And I



21   apologize for jumping in.  My same Ajay Kumar.  I'm chief



22   regulatory counsel for PacifiCorp.  And Mr. Lowney does



23   not have direct knowledge of this topic, but I could



24   answer your question, if that would be appropriate.



25             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Please do.
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 1             AJAY KUMAR:  Yes.  The -- the company would



 2   provide regular meetings, and we would provide updates to



 3   Commissioners.  And there is a Commissioner forum process



 4   during which, at times, we would also provide updates to



 5   Commissioners from all six of our states, along with



 6   meeting individually with Commissioners.  And they would



 7   ask about what's going on in MSP, and we'd give them sort



 8   of a -- generalized updates.



 9             And then we have also to -- I think also you --



10   the rule touches on, you know, whether or not Public



11   Counsel is invited to participate.  And we did try



12   multiple times over the years to work with Public Counsel



13   to -- to allow them to -- to participate as well.



14             And so I think I can speak to those factual



15   issues.



16             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Very good.



17             Mr. Lowney, I'd like to turn to the Subsection B



18   where it says "to the extent permitted by law."



19             Looking at, I believe, paragraph 7 of your



20   brief, there's a very abrupt therefore the information



21   request by public counsel is (inaudible) disclosure.



22             I don't if you've ever practiced Public Records



23   Act in Washington state, but there is a distinction



24   between regulations and statutes in terms of, like, what



25   can we use to withhold disclosure.
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 1             So I don't see an RCW cite.  So I guess I'm



 2   curious.  To the extent permitted by law, is there a



 3   specific law that you believe is applicable, like, for



 4   example, the commercial information statute?



 5             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I would say, generally, the



 6   information that was provided as part of the MSP



 7   discussions is -- would be proprietarily and commercially



 8   sensitive information.  It would be the same type of



 9   information that we would provide subject to a protective



10   order in a Commission regulation -- or excuse me -- a



11   Commission proceeding.



12             I would say, in our brief, we didn't address the



13   public records laws because nobody brought up the public



14   records laws as a basis for requiring disclosure of this



15   information.  But, if subsequent briefly would be helpful



16   on that issue, we're happy to provide it.



17             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  No.  I bring it up just



18   because, if I were to file a PRA right now of the UTC and



19   ask for this information, they would have to go through



20   that RCW analysis to determine if they could withhold it.



21   And I just -- that seems absent here.  You haven't cited



22   to a law of why this is commercial information.



23             It's an agreement amongst private parties and in



24   a very broad look at the WAC.  So you believe this is both



25   nondiscoverable and nonadmissible.  And could you explain
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 1   the -- the difference in your thinking there between those



 2   two concepts?



 3             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I think -- I think you could



 4   actually just look at Subsection 6 of the ADR rule.  I



 5   mean, if you look Subsection A, it deals with



 6   admissibility.  And -- and that pretty clearly says



 7   statements made by parties are not admissible as evidence



 8   in formal proceedings.  But Subsection B, which is the one



 9   that we are relying on, is broader, and it says



10   information is not subject to disclosure.



11             And disclosure, in our minds, would be -- this



12   is a perfect example of a disclosure that's -- that's



13   prohibited by that rule.  A party that was not a part of



14   the settlement discussions ask specific or to provide



15   information that was provided within those settlement



16   discussions.  If we were to provide that information to



17   Public Counsel, that would be a very clear form of



18   disclosure which is prohibited by Subsection B.



19             Now, admissibility is a second issue.  If we are



20   ordered, for example, to provide this information to



21   Public Counsel, we may have a future conflict to the



22   extent they try to admit that evidence into record if that



23   evidence falls under Subsection 6(a).



24             We've not crossed that bridge at this point



25   because we're not at the place where anybody is moving to
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 1   admit this -- this information into the record.  But that



 2   could be an issue that we face down the road in the event



 3   someone tries to do that.  And --



 4             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Okay.  Let me ask you,



 5   though.



 6             There's an assertion of confidentiality in our



 7   regulations in protective orders set out a process for



 8   asserting that.  I don't have an in camera copy of the



 9   records.  I don't know how many records exist.  How are we



10   to make a determination about the relevance or anything



11   without being able to see them?



12             Wouldn't the proper way of handling this have



13   been to provide the information and then move -- let's --



14   for a special order for protection?  Can you talk to me



15   about that?



16             Why -- why wasn't a motion to protect brought or



17   a confidentially asserted as the regulations require?



18             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, because our position is that



19   this information should not be disclosed.



20             And I will say, if we are required to disclose



21   it, we will disclosed it subject to a -- I assume we will



22   disclose it subject to the confidentiality protections in



23   the protective order that's -- that's already been issued



24   in this docket.



25             To the extent that a Commission wishes to have

�



                                                             28





 1   an in camera review, we're certainly willing to facilitate



 2   that.  But the basis of our objection was that this is



 3   just not discoverable.  It's -- the -- the regulation says



 4   that it shall not be disclosed.



 5             And so there was no reason to take that



 6   additional step of providing protections in the event it



 7   is disclosed, which is what I'm understanding your



 8   question to be, unless I'm misunderstanding.



 9             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  I guess, if we don't know



10   how many records there are -- if you don't identify



11   that -- I'm -- I'm struggling to see how -- how we're --



12   how you think this rule would play it.  It's kind of an



13   absurd result because there -- you would just not say --



14   you're not saying how many records exist.  You're not



15   really defining the scope of what you consider.  There's



16   really no way for me -- a neutral third party to judge



17   that.  So I just -- I guess I want to ask how many records



18   responsive to this request exist.



19             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I would perhaps ask



20   Mr. Kumar to weigh in on that one.  But, before we do



21   that, I would need to understand what you mean by a



22   record.  As a -- as a document or --



23             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Well, that's fair.  I --



24   having been trained under Foley and PRA, records generally



25   refer to any form of writing.  And, at least in the
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 1   concept of delivery of process, which deals with the sort



 2   of give and take that we're talking about here, in fears



 3   of chilling discussion, there is within that doctrine a



 4   distinction between factual information within a record



 5   and delivered information with the record.



 6             So I'm -- I suppose, touching that doctrine and



 7   how I'm thinking about this -- because, if there are



 8   company position, why would reasonably segregating them



 9   not be an appropriate remedy for your problem?



10             Can you simply redact the confidential



11   information and provide the rest?  Why is that not -- why



12   wasn't that an option that was pursued here?



13             ADAM LOWNEY:  Well, I think that the -- the



14   problem is that there is no -- there is no redaction that



15   can occur because everything -- you know, if a party asked



16   you in settlement discussions to prepare a certain



17   analysis and provide that to the parties, we prepare that



18   analysis.  We typically convey that information through a



19   PowerPoint slide deck with supporting work papers.



20             Everything that's performed and provided to the



21   parties was done so only because we were engaged in



22   settlement discussions with those parties.  And so there



23   is no redaction that can take place that would redact only



24   some of the information because all of the information was



25   provided in accordance with the settlement discussions.
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 1             Now, to your point, I understand there is a



 2   distinction between, you know, commercially sensitive or



 3   proprietary information or maybe information that conveys



 4   a particular party's position in a negotiation from



 5   simply, you know, factual information about what the



 6   weather with was like on a particular day.



 7             We're not taking about factual information like



 8   what the weather was like on a particular day.  None of



 9   this information was -- was generated in any form in the



10   normal course of PacifiCorp's business.  It was generated



11   specifically because a party asked for it as part of a



12   confidential settlement discussion.



13             And so redaction of certain documents just



14   doesn't -- we would redact everything because our position



15   is none of this information is -- is discoverable because



16   it was all provided through settlement negotiations.



17             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Well, I won't take this up



18   too much.  I do invite you to look up the delivery process



19   privilege and specifically the consultant corollary and



20   the considerations, which sound very similar to what



21   you're talking about, has been resolved by other courts



22   when examining sensitive information created in



23   negotiation and process.  It's slightly different because



24   it has to do with the executive's power.



25             But I'm just -- it's difficult to buy an entire
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 1   document is confidential, including the headers and



 2   whatever crafts are in there.  But --



 3             AJAY KUMAR:  Judge Hughes, maybe I can speak to



 4   the factual -- the actual factual documents and provide,



 5   you know, overview of the exact information that you're



 6   looking at.



 7             So the -- and the way the MSP process worked was



 8   we -- essentially, we'd have meetings around two month --



 9   two months.  We would, you know, talk to the parties.



10   There'd be back-and-forth discussions.  We'd all get



11   together either virtually or, you know, in a certain



12   location.  And we'd have parties from all six of our



13   states there.  And there -- essentially, the company



14   would -- would have a slide deck that facilitates those



15   discussions.



16             Each slide deck, since the beginning of the



17   Framework Issues Work Group has been labeled as



18   confidential settlement discussions.  You can see that --



19   that disclaimer on every single slide deck we have had in



20   the entirety of the Framework Issues Work Group.



21             I believe there are maybe roughly half a -- a



22   dozen or maybe a dozen to 16 presentations that would



23   cover information that essentially parties requested or



24   that we provided in order to facilitate those settlement



25   discussions around our cost allocation protocol.
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 1             And those -- the -- any additional information



 2   would be work papers that support the -- the analysis that



 3   was provided in those slide decks.



 4             That's the scope of the information that we're



 5   discussing here.



 6             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Thank you.  That's very



 7   helpful.  I'm going to turn back to ALJ Thompson.



 8             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you.



 9             I think I just have one additional question that



10   that back and forth spurred.  And then I'll go ahead and



11   turn to -- to the remainder of the parties to ask if



12   anybody else has any additional comments that may have



13   come up during this conversation.



14             And I'm not sure whether this should be directed



15   at you, Mr. Lowney, or you, Mr. Kumar.  But question is



16   are the only alternative analyses that PacifiCorp has for



17   the allocation methodology proposed in this docket those



18   contained in the multistate process?  There weren't any



19   other done?



20             AJAY KUMAR:  I can probably speak to that most



21   easily.  And, yes, that's true.



22             The only -- the only alternative analyses that



23   we ever did was in discussions with parties in the MSP



24   process regarding, you know, possible limited realignment



25   or reassignment issues.
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 1             When it came time to develop the 2026 protocol,



 2   there wasn't any analysis because, to be honest, the



 3   changing nature of Washington laws and the Climate



 4   Commitment Act made it painfully obvious kind of to the



 5   company what the allocation methodology should be.  And so



 6   it was just a matter of putting together all the things



 7   that we required for the filing and that we've provided



 8   already to the parties in discovery.



 9             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.



10             I'll go ahead and -- and turn to Public Counsel



11   first and just ask if you have any additional comments or



12   responses that you'd like us to take under consideration.



13             ROBERT SYKES:  I have no other comments except



14   to say that it sounds like they did the math that we're



15   asking about.  They have work papers.



16             There's a substantial body of law that I did not



17   get into in this motion because it didn't seem relevant at



18   the time that simply stamping something as confidential



19   settlement negotiations doesn't make it so.



20             But, at a minimum, they've admitted again they



21   did -- they did an analysis.  They had work papers.  Other



22   parties should be entitled to see that as an alternative



23   to what they are proposing here today.



24             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you.



25             And, Ms. Madsen, do you have anything else to
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 1   add?



 2             MICHELLE MADSEN:  Thank you, Judge Thompson.



 3             I would just add that AWEC continues to believe



 4   that the data in question are facts that are separate from



 5   settlement positions and that they would not, in that



 6   light, violate the DNA.  It is facts that belong to



 7   PacifiCorp that were made at the -- that were then further



 8   analyzed at the request of parties.  But the facts



 9   themselves should not be subject to the NDA.



10             Thank you.



11             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Mr. O'Brien.



12             COLIN O'BRIEN:  I would just echo and Staff



13   would just echo the other parties' comments that allowing



14   PacifiCorp to withhold this information simply because



15   they happen to have been used for a work group when the



16   underlying facts are simply facts that the company has and



17   other parties do not just would contribute to further



18   widening of the already large information gap that



19   companies and noncompany parties face.  And we would



20   support this motion.



21             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.



22             And Mr. Zakai.



23             YOCHI ZAKAI:  Yes.  Thank you.



24             I would just add that there are different



25   allocations for different plans that are going to be
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 1   considered in this proceeding and that had been considered



 2   in various different, you know, venues in the past.  And,



 3   yeah, they're all, you know, relevant to how we move



 4   forward here and have all contributed to the overall base



 5   of knowledge that was used by PacifiCorp and other parties



 6   in developing the positions here.



 7             So thank you.



 8             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.



 9             So I think what I would like to do is, first, I



10   believe, as to the issue of relevance, that these



11   documents are relevant;



12             Second, to the issue of the nondisclosure



13   agreement, I don't believe that that precludes disclosure



14   in this instance, nor is it particularly applicable.



15             However -- and this is a question to the



16   parties.  What I'm thinking is asking for a little bit of



17   additional briefing on the applicability of WAC



18   480-07-706(b), particularly to the issues of whether or



19   not the multistate process is a settlement process and, if



20   so, whether 480-07-706(b) would preclude disclosure in



21   this instance.



22             If anybody wants to go there, I'd welcome



23   additional briefing as to why the protective order in this



24   case is not sufficient to adequately protect that



25   information and preserve the integrity of the process.
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 1             I don't believe that we really need that much of



 2   additional briefing to make a decision on that point.  I'm



 3   thinking seven pages at -- you know, would probably be



 4   more than sufficient.



 5             If anybody has alternative thoughts, I'm open to



 6   hearing those.  And I'll ask here in just a moment for



 7   that.



 8             I do know that we have the 4th of July this



 9   week, and so I don't want to impose a deadline that is



10   overly burdensome.  But I also do not want to prejudice



11   any party in their ability to process this case because we



12   are moving on a relatively quick procedural schedule in



13   getting this information, if -- if we so determine that it



14   needs to be disclosed.



15             And so I'm looking at my calendar.  And I think,



16   taking into account that the 4th is Friday, perhaps



17   requiring that additional briefing be due by close of



18   business on Thursday, July 10th, seems like it may provide



19   enough time.



20             It's not required of the parties, but certainly



21   I would -- I would think that Public Counsel and the



22   company would want to submit briefing on the issue.  And



23   so that is the direction I'm leaning right now.  And we



24   would aim to get an order out expeditiously after that



25   point in time.
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 1             And so I'll just first turn to Public Counsel



 2   and ask if that proposal seems reasonable and if you have



 3   any request to amend that proposal.



 4             ROBERT SYKES:  That proposal sounds reasonable



 5   to me.  My one concern -- well, I have two concerns.



 6             My first concern is that I'm going to be on



 7   vacation next week so I won't be able to submit anything



 8   by the 10th.  So that -- Tuesday the 15th, if that's



 9   possible.  But my one concern there is that we're getting



10   awfully close to the August 6th response testimony



11   deadline.  So I just want to raise those two constraints



12   with you and defer to you, Judge -- Judge Thompson.



13             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.



14             Mr. Lowney.



15             ROBERT SYKES:  Briefly, Judge Thompson.  If the



16   10th is the date that is best, for the Commission, I'm



17   sure that I can have another attorney in my office help



18   out.



19             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.



20             ADAM LOWNEY:  Judge Thompson, That proposal will



21   work for PacifiCorp.



22             I would say I'm happy to also address the



23   question that you just posed now to the extent it wasn't



24   already addressed; and, that is, from our perspective, the



25   reason the Commission's protective order is insufficient
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 1   here is because that protective order protects the parties



 2   from disclosing publicly information that's provided to



 3   them subject to that protective order.



 4             What we're talking about here is disclosure of



 5   confidential settlement negotiation materials to a



 6   party -- Public Counsel -- that was not a part of those



 7   settlement discussions.



 8             And so, even though Public Counsel may be bound



 9   by the protective order and would not be able to disclose



10   that information publicly, the harm to the integrity of



11   the settlement process comes from disclosing settlement



12   negotiations to nonparticipants, even if that disclosure



13   to a nonparticipant is subject to a protective order.



14             And so that's -- that's the concern we have here



15   and why we didn't provide this information subject to the



16   protective order, which would be obviously the normal



17   course of action for materials that are deemed



18   confidential or proprietary or commercially sensitive in



19   some other form.



20             That's it.  We're happy to brief this issue



21   additionally, if that would be helpful.  And your timeline



22   and proposed length of briefing works for the company.



23             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you very



24   much.



25             Ms. Madsen.
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 1             MICHELLE MADSEN:  Thank you, Judge Thompson.



 2             AWEC supports briefing on this issue, and we can



 3   make any timeline work should we submit a brief.



 4             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.



 5             Mr. O'Brien.



 6             COLIN O'BRIEN:  The timeline works for Staff,



 7   Your Honor.  And I don't believe we take any position as



 8   far as the necessity of the briefing or not.



 9             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.



10             And, Mr. Zakai.



11             YOCHI ZAKAI:  No position on those issues.



12   Thank you.



13             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Great.  Thank you.



14             And, Mr. Sykes, when did you say rebuttal



15   testimony is due?  I don't have the procedural schedule up



16   in front of me.  Is it August 5th, you said?



17             ROBERT SYKES:  I think it's August 6th.  I don't



18   have the schedule up either, but August 6th is ringing in



19   my head for some reason.  I will -- I am open to



20   correction.



21             YOCHI ZAKAI:  Yes.  I confirmed it's August 6th.



22             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Do we have a



23   second settlement conference on the schedule for after



24   rebuttal?



25             YOCHI ZAKAI:  I believe there's only one
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 1   scheduling conference on the schedule right now.



 2             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  I'm just thinking



 3   through here.



 4             ROBERT SYKES:  Your Honor, it looks like there's



 5   a second settlement conference September 15th.



 6             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  September 15th?  Okay.



 7             YOCHI ZAKAI:  My apologies.



 8             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  The reason I'm asking



 9   is -- is twofold:  One, in consideration of Mr. Sykes'



10   vacation, which I want him to be able to enjoy; and then



11   also ensuring that, should we decide this information is



12   discoverable, that parties have adequate time to review



13   that and prepare testimony accordingly.



14             I do think we can go ahead and have additional



15   briefing submitted by the 15th.  I think that should work.



16   And Judge Hughes and I will -- let me just crosscheck my



17   own calendar before I make any -- I think that we can



18   reasonably make an effort to get an order out on the issue



19   before the end of that week -- before the 18th, if -- if



20   briefing comes in by the 15th.



21             So I believe that should provide enough time for



22   the parties to brief the issue, as requested, and then



23   also for analysis of the information should it be



24   discoverable before rebuttal testimony is due.



25             Does that sound reasonable to you, Mr. Sykes?
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 1             ROBERT SYKES:  Yes, Your Honor.



 2             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Should --



 3             ADAM LOWNEY:  Judge Thompson --



 4             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Yes.



 5             ADAM LOWNEY:  -- if I may, just as you consider



 6   that timing, I think we also need to think about, if the



 7   Commission does determine that this information is



 8   discoverable, that it will require time for the company to



 9   compile it and distribute it to the parties.



10             So, if -- if I was tracking your timeline, if



11   you issued an order on the 18th or by the 18th, we would



12   need at least a week to prepare and compile the



13   information and then provide the appropriate



14   confidentiality protections and distribute it to the



15   parties.



16             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  If you haven't compiled the



17   information, then how can you assert that all of it is



18   privileged?



19             AJAY KUMAR:  Well, so I want to step in.  We're



20   in the process of compiling the information.  And we could



21   probably -- and I apologize, Mr. Lowney.  I think, if we



22   were expecting a decision today, and it would have taken



23   us, like, an additional week to make sure we got



24   everything gathered.  But I think we can -- we are in the



25   process of compiling that.  We can probably get it pretty
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 1   quickly after the 18th.



 2             And I can say that the reason we can assert that



 3   all of this is privileged is because we have -- we have



 4   the -- the process isn't so much going through and



 5   asserting what is privileged.  It's going through -- we



 6   have, you know, approximately, you know, six slide decks



 7   per year over five years to review.  And so it's just



 8   going through and identifying -- because not -- in not all



 9   of the meetings did we discuss realignment and



10   reallocation.  And so it's just going through and making



11   sure that the ones -- we are providing those specific



12   subset of slide decks that discuss reassignment or



13   reallocation issues.



14             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  So it sounds like



15   the information could reasonably be compiled by the 18th.



16   Okay.



17             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  Does that -- does that



18   include any potential redactions if you were to submit



19   both a redacted/unredacted copies of these?



20             AJAY KUMAR:  You know, we have to go through and



21   identify exactly how we would redact them because I think



22   it's -- you know, going back to Mr. Lowney's point



23   earlier, this was all labeled, you know, confidential



24   settlement discussions.  And so we'd have to sort of



25   figure out if there's an easy way to redact them first.
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 1             JUDGE BIJUN HUGHES:  No.  That's fair.  And I



 2   would, again, consider that, because UTC has it and anyone



 3   could make a public records request, so the analysis in



 4   RCW 80.04.095 may be helpful.  Because not everything is a



 5   trade secret or will lead to the financial loss even if,



 6   you know, at the time you -- it was very special.  Because



 7   it -- it has to actually create an unfair advantage to be



 8   able to be withheld.



 9             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  I think we --



10   we've got what we need today.



11             I would ask that the parties who would like to



12   submit briefing on the issue of the applicability of WAC



13   480-07-706(b) including the issues discussed earlier, to



14   include whether or not the multistate process is a



15   settlement discussion.



16             I'd ask that the parties keep the briefs to a



17   maximum of seven pages in length and that those be filed



18   with the Commission before the close of business on



19   July 15th.



20             In the interim, I would ask that PacifiCorp



21   continue to compile the information so that, should we



22   find it discoverable, that that information could be



23   turned over in a reasonable manner after that order came



24   out.



25             And, with that, are there any other issues that
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 1   are left for discussion today?



 2             ADAM LOWNEY:  There's nothing additional from



 3   the company's perspective.  Thank you.



 4             JUDGE CONNOR THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you very



 5   much.  I appreciate everyone for your time and patience



 6   today.



 7             And I would also just like to note that we do



 8   have a new court reporting company, and we have a new



 9   court reporter with us today.  So thank you very much for



10   being online with us today and for your time as well.



11             At this point, we can go off the record.  And I



12   wish everyone a good rest of your day and a happy 4th of



13   July.



14                       (Hearing concluded at 2:28 p.m.)
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